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Hansteen Holdings PLC is a property 
company formed by Morgan Jones 
and Ian Watson.

The company focuses on investing in 
industrial property in continental Europe. 
It also seeks to profit from opportunistic 
acquisitions in other property sectors and 
will invest in the UK property market as 
value returns.
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Highlights 2008

Net asset value fall of 7 per cent to 128 pence per  >
share (FY07: 138 pence)*
Normalised profit increased by 20 per cent to  >
£11.8 million (FY07: £9.8 million)** 
Strong and secure financing – net debt to value of  >
51 per cent (measured using free cash balances 
and total debt) (FY07: 37 per cent)
A maintained dividend of 3.2 pence per share  >
(FY07: 3.2 pence per share)
Annualised net rental income of £41.5 million  >
(FY07: £29.7 million)
Portfolio initial yield 8.4 per cent   >
(FY07: 7.25 per cent)

* Diluted EPRA basis.
**  Pre-tax profit excluding gains and losses on investment properties, sale of subsidiaries, foreign 

currency and interest rate derivatives hedge valuations.

Normalised profit
£ million

£11.8m
2008

Dividend
pence per share

3.2p
2008

Property portfolio
£ million

£495m
2008

NAV
pence per share

128p
2008



2008

2007

2006

£46.1m

£40.0m

n/a

2008

2007

2006

£23.4m

£20.4m

£14.6m

2008

2007

2006

£193.4m

£157.9m

£71.4m

2008

2007

2006

£223.2m

£167.5m

£38.5m

2008

2007

2006

£9.0m

£26.1m

£21.1m
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Our business at a glance

Business
strategy

Focus on consistent, high and realised returns >
Acquisition of Continental European industrial  >
investments combined with other more 
opportunistic and management intensive 
acquisitions
Where possible maintain and improve occupancy  >
and income
Seek ways of acquiring assets at low values in the  >
UK or Europe

Portfolio 
values

Hansteen has  
invested in a range of 
industrial properties 
located across  
Europe including  
the Netherlands, 
Germany, Belgium 
and France.

Belgium

France

The Netherlands

Germany

Other assets
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We invest where fundamental value exists. 
Continental European industrial 

investments show high yields, low 
financing costs and opportunity for value 

improvement through asset management.
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Chairman’s statement

James Hambro
Chairman

We are pleased to report a solid set of financial results for the year ending 
31 December 2008 in a difficult market environment. 

Results

The Group’s Net Asset value fell by 7 per cent to 128 pence per share 
(using diluted EPRA NAV measurement) reflecting a decrease in value of 
our properties over the year. However, during 2008 both income and 
occupancy remained robust and normalised profit increased for the third 
consecutive year. At 31 December 2008, the Group’s financial position was 
strong with net debt to value of 51 per cent (measured using free cash 
balances and total debt).

The Board’s continuing belief in the quality of the portfolio and 
conservative nature of Hansteen’s financing is reflected in the 
recommendation to hold the dividend at 3.2 pence (2007: 3.2 pence).

Normalised profit before tax for the year to 31 December 2008 was £11.8 
million compared to £9.8 million in 2007 and £6.3 million in 2006. As 
noted in the interim statement, the normalised profit is the traditional 
measure of profit akin to that which would have been reported under the 
Historic Cost Accounting regime. We set out below a pro-forma profit and 
loss account reflecting this approach.

Normalised profit and loss account

   2008  2007
   £m £m

Turnover   34.9 18.4
Cost of sales   (8.2) (1.7)
Admin costs   (3.9) (4.1)
Interest   (11.0) (2.8)

Normalised profit before tax   11.8 9.8

    
In accordance with IFRS Hansteen showed a £60.9 million pre-tax 
accounting loss for the year (2007: profit £20.4 million). In the Board’s view 
this loss does not reflect the real returns of the Group’s business as it 
includes a £45 million charge for closing out a currency hedging contract 
and a deduction of £41.7 million arising from the fall in the value of the 
portfolio over the year. Both of these items are fully reflected in the Net 
Asset Value of the Group.

Net Asset Value per share (diluted EPRA NAV basis) fell to 128 pence from 
138 pence in the previous year. In the current economic environment the 
property values which underpin this NAV may fall further. However, in 
addition to producing a high initial yield, the Group’s portfolio provides an 
Estimated Rental Value of €48.6 million per annum which equates to a 
reversionary yield of 9.5 per cent. The gap between current borrowing 
costs and these yields is unprecedented in recent years and in the Board’s 
view any further value falls will reflect the illiquidity in the market due to 
financing problems rather than any reflection of fundamental value.

Hansteen’s portfolio 
is robust and defensive 
with a high yield.
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Dividend

The dividend of 3.2 pence per share will be paid on 15 May 2009 to 
shareholders on the register at close of business on 17 April 2009. 
This dividend will be charged to the 2009 financial statements.
 
Financial 

In the current difficult banking environment the Board is determined to 
ensure the Group’s borrowing levels are well within their covenants. 
Since inception, Hansteen has maintained a conservative approach to 
debt levels. 

In June 2008 the Group arranged a new €130 million five year facility with 
FGHbank secured on the Dutch portfolio. Under the terms of this loan there 
are no specific loan to value tests but there is an interest cover covenant of 
1.55. The current cover is over 2.5 times. 

The Group also has an existing revolving facility with HBOS secured on the 
German and French properties committed until July 2011. As at 31 
December 2008 €141 million had been drawn out of a facility of €200 
million. This facility contains both income and loan to value covenants. The 
test in relation to value is that the loan should not exceed 70 per cent of 
the value of the secured properties. As at 31 December the loan 
represented 59 per cent of the value of the secured properties, and further 
unsecured properties are in the course of being secured which will reduce 
this ratio to 55 per cent. The interest cover requirement is 1.75 times and 
the current cover is 3.57 times.

Additionally, the Group has a number of property specific loans in Belgium 
totalling around €18.8 million secured against a portfolio of properties 
valued at 31 December at €47.6 million. There are no specific covenants 
associated with these loans.

Property portfolio

2008 was a year of consolidation and improvement with a focus on sales 
of selected properties with limited growth prospects and purchases of 
several properties with substantial opportunities to add value over time. 
In total, the Group sold €31.8 million of properties with a rent roll of €1.9 
million per annum and acquired €36.2 million of properties with a rent 
roll of €3.3 million per annum and a potential rent if fully let of €5.1 million 
per annum. The Board expects to continue this policy during the current 
year, with selective sales and purchases in Continental Europe. However, 
the first priority will be to maximise net occupancy and our rent roll. 

At 31 December 2008 the portfolio comprises 942,000 sqm of property 
with a value of €512 million producing an annual rent roll of €42.9 million, 
representing an initial yield of 8.4 per cent and including 134,000 sqm of 
lettable vacant space, 117 acres of development land and a small 
residential portfolio. 

Currency hedging

As reported in December, owing to the rapid devaluation of Sterling, the 
currency hedging contract which the Group entered into in 2006 started to 
present an unacceptable potential cash drain on the business. The Group 
acted swiftly to effectively close the contract at a one-off cash cost of 
€57.6 million, which is due to be settled in July 2009. This cost was 
exceeded by the appreciation in the Sterling value of the Group’s property 
portfolio and as a result there was no negative effect on net asset value. 
Furthermore the net gearing figure referred to earlier of 51 per cent takes 
full account of the cost of terminating the currency hedging arrangements.

The Board has decided to remain unhedged for the time being although  
it will continue to monitor the position closely and may enter into further 
hedges at a future date. 

Outlook

The outlook for the European economy, particularly Germany, is uncertain. 
However, the Board believes that Hansteen’s portfolio is both robust and 
defensive with a high yield, a spread of properties across four countries, 
with 675 tenants in a broad spectrum of industries and importantly the 
capital values of the Group’s investments are substantially below 
replacement cost. 

The task for the Group during this global recession is to protect its capital 
base, retain liquidity and, so long as it is prudent, to continue to pay a 
dividend. This approach will provide a secure foundation for the Group to 
exploit some of the extraordinary opportunities which the Board believes 
will arise over the next year or two, in both the UK and Continental Europe.

James Hambro

Chairman
1 April 2009

Hansteen will focus on providing 
its investors with consistent, 

high and realised returns

Doetinchem, The Netherlands
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Joint Chief Executives’ Review

Morgan Jones and Ian Watson
Joint Chief Executives 

During 2008 the global credit crisis and economic downturn affected all 
businesses including Hansteen. However, compared to most, the effect on 
Hansteen was limited due to value falls for industrial property in Western 
Continental Europe being less pronounced than in the UK or other parts of 
Europe such as Mediterranean countries and Eastern Europe. Occupancy 
and letting income improved whilst financing costs reduced. 

The focus in 2009 will be on maintaining and, so far as possible, improving 
occupancy, income and the finances for our existing business. Secondly, to 
exploit the downturn by seeking ways of acquiring assets at low values in 
the UK or Europe by using our limited resources, alongside other investors 
capital, or through corporate acquisition.

The portfolio

At 31 December 2008 the portfolio comprised 942,367 sqm of property 
with an annualised rent roll of €42.9 million per annum and a value of 
€512 million. In 2008 we added to the portfolio with properties that had 
high vacancies presenting opportunities for us to add value through 
marketing and letting space. In addition to the 8.4 per cent yield on the 
portfolio there is 134,000 sqm of vacant non-income producing but 
lettable space. In addition, we have 117 acres of development land. During 
2008 net occupancy improved by 10,278 sqm on the portfolio, 
representing 1 per cent of the whole portfolio and 11 per cent of the 
vacancies at the start of the year.

During the year we completed the purchase of eight properties totalling 
€36.2 million and sold five properties with a total value of €31.8 million. 

The average capital cost of the built portfolio is €540 per sqm. The current 
yield of 8.4 per cent is substantially higher than the average cost of 
borrowing which is approximately 4.7 per cent.

The average capital value per square metre of our properties is materially 
less than the replacement cost and our average rent per square metre is 
less than that one would need to charge for a new build. Put another way, 
our portfolio valued at €512 million has an insurance rebuilding cost of 
approximately €850 million. Further fundamental strength comes from the 
vacant and reversionary properties which, if let at the market rent, could 
add a potential €5.7 million to the rent roll.
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The current property 
yield of 8.4% is 
substantially higher 
than the average cost 
of borrowing which 
is approximately 4.7%.

As at 31 December 2008 the portfolio, including investment and trading 
properties, was valued at £495.1 million analysed as follows:

 No. of Area Annualised Valuation
Euros Properties sqm Rent €m €m

Netherlands 34 373,257 16.8 200.1
Germany 50 431,186 19.5 230.8
Belgium 13 49,973 3.8 47.6
France 4 79,042 2.3 24.2
Other assets 5 8,909 0.5 9.3

 106 942,367 42.9 512.0

    
 No. of Area Annualised Valuation
Sterling Properties sqm Rent €m €m

Netherlands 34 373,257 16.2 193.4
Germany 50 431,186 18.9 223.2
Belgium 13 49,973 3.7 46.1
France 4 79,042 2.2 23.4
Other assets 5 8,909 0.5 9.0

 106 942,367 41.5 495.1

    
Since the year end, we have completed two further acquisitions and 
concluded one property sale.

One acquisition was a distribution warehouse unit of 7,900 sqm, built for 
chilled food distribution, at Gross-Rohrheim in Germany. The current rent  
is €378,000 per annum and at a total acquisition cost of €3.3 million it 
provides a high yielding and low capital cost property. The tenant, Dachser, 
is on a short lease although they have occupied the property since 1994.

The other acquisition, Friedberg, also in Germany, is a multi-let property  
of 11,370 sqm, with an annual rent of €669,000 per annum at a total 
purchase price of €4.4 million. Again, the tenants mainly occupy on 
short-term leases.

The sale was of a property in Freising, in south Germany, which we had 
acquired in 2008. The sale price was €4.5 million which is above the 
year-end valuation and significantly above initial acquisition cost. 

The effect of these transactions is to increase the running yield on our 
portfolio to 8.5 per cent. We set out below a geographical breakdown of 
activities during 2008.

The UK property cycle will provide 
significant opportunities.

Remseck, Germany
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Property Review

Germany

We started 2008 with 46 different blocks of commercial property with a 
total value of €228.2 million and a rent roll of €17.2 million per annum. 
During the year we acquired a further six properties for €21.6 million and 
sold our residential properties in Wiesbaden and a block of vacant property 
in Freising, which was part of the portfolio we acquired in late 2007, for a 
total of €22.9 million. The net result of these transactions, together with 
valuation movements on the existing portfolio, was that at the year-end 
our portfolio in Germany had a total value of €237 million with an annual 
rent roll of €20 million, an E.R.V. of €24 million and 26.8 acres of 
developable land.

Details of all the purchases have been announced and are available on the 
Hansteen website but we set out some specific updates in relation to a 
number of our German properties:

1 We have continued to have success with the building in 
Babenhausen which we acquired in the second half of 2007.  
We bought the building at auction from a bank in possession for 
€3.3 million. At the time the building was 50 per cent occupied 
and producing an income of €327,960 per annum. By the end  
of 2007 we had let approximately 50 per cent of the remaining 
vacant space to produce a, then, current rent roll of €480,576 
per annum. During 2008 we managed to let the remaining 
vacant space pushing the rent roll up to €592,458 per annum. 
We have successfully negotiated a lease extension from an 
annual lease to a new five-year lease at a marginally improved 
rent with Lufthansa who occupy the ground floor of the building. 
 

2 In last year’s report we noted the purchase of a 7,000 sqm  
vacant property in Leonberg adjacent to Stuttgart which we  
had bought from a bank in possession for €3.9 million. We had 
allowed for an 18 month void period in our calculations when 
we bought the property but successfully let approximately two 
thirds of the building to a good quality local logistics business 
within the first six months of our ownership and let the 
remaining third of the building on a 10-year lease to a gym 
operator. The gym operator pays a stepped rent in the first year 
to assist towards his fitting-out cost but when all the rent on the 
building is flowing, by the end of 2009, the rent will be 
€461,736 per annum.  
 

3 In August 2007 we purchased an out-of-town retail building in 
Weiterstadt. The main tenant had given notice to vacate and 
therefore we were buying the building substantially empty. We 
believed that the building presented an interesting opportunity 
particularly due to its location in a strong and improving retail 
location. Since acquisition, we have let all the vacant space in 
the building at an enhanced rent to a well-known regional 
retailer, on a 30-year lease, with a break after 10 years. We 
believe this has created an attractive institutional quality 
investment property.

Property ownership

At the year-end our portfolio in Germany 
had a total value of €237 million with an 
annual rent roll of €20 million.

50
properties
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4 At the beginning of 2008 we bought a group of office and 
industrial buildings located on a 4.8 acre segment of central 
Hanau for €5.7 million. It comprised 48,425 sqm of building but 
with only 12,083 sqm let and produced €604,000 per annum. 
The remainder was vacant. The property was bought at auction 
from a bank in possession and had a number of issues which 
needed to be resolved before we could move forward. Foremost 
amongst these was a sub-lease, which the previous owner had 
granted to himself, of the bulk of the vacant property, as part of 
a dispute with the bank. The bank had unsuccessfully tried to 
terminate this lease through the courts.  
 
Since acquisition we have managed to terminate the lease and 
have grown the rent roll to €855,000 per annum. There is 
considerable further potential upside with this property, 
although releasing some of the additional value will require 
significant capital expenditure. 

5 At the end of 2007 and the beginning of 2008 we bought two 
halves of a portfolio of properties in Freising, near Munich, for a 
total of €8.9 million. In the latter half of 2008 we sold a vacant 
villa and adjoining industrial building and, separately, a small 
cottage for a total of €858,000. Earlier this year we have sold 
the buildings we bought in early 2008 to a local investor for 
€4.5 million, a price in excess of both the purchase price and our 
December 2008 valuation. 

6 As previously reported in the early part of 2008 we sold our 
residential portfolio in Wiesbaden for €22.1 million, a small profit 
over both cost and the valuation. At that time we retained a 
number of single vacant flats in Wiesbaden which we have 
since profitably sold for a total of €342,000. 
 
We will continue to selectively buy and sell in Germany but, for 
the foreseeable future, we expect the focus of our activities to 
be on maintaining net occupancy and minimising rental arrears. 
In 2008 we again improved net occupancy in Germany, 
however, we expect to see a materially more difficult property 
market in 2009 with pressure on both tenants and rents.

In 2008 we again 
improved net occupancy 
in Germany.

Willich, Germany

Witten, Germany
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Property Review 
continued

Property ownership

At 31 December 2008 our portfolio in the 
Netherlands comprised 373,257 sqm 
valued at €200 million.

34
properties

The Netherlands

At 31 December 2008 our portfolio in the Netherlands comprised  
373,257 sqm of industrial and distribution space valued at €200 million 
and showing an initial yield of 8.4 per cent. There were two property 
acquisitions and two property disposals during the year and net occupancy 
improved by a net 8,000 sqm which represents over 20 per cent of the 
vacant space.

The two acquisitions were of properties with long leases and both were 
negotiated over an extended period. At Raamsdonkveer we acquired a 
14,600 sqm warehouse let to Bouwgros B.V. on a 10 year lease. This was  
a sale and leaseback for a business which distributes tiles. The second 
property, at Roosendaal, is a new distribution warehouse let on a 12 year 
lease to Adexpo B.V. The rent roll from these two properties is €1.1 million 
per annum and total acquisition costs were €14.7 million.

The two properties which were sold are examples of assets where we 
undertook some management initiatives and then realised the results 
through sales. At Drachten, we acquired 4,417 sqm of vacant space in 
2007. During 2008 we let this to Odis B.V. as a motor parts distribution 
centre and sold the subsequent investment. The property was acquired  
for €1.6 million and sold for €1.8 million.

At Hoogoveen we owned a 7,200 sqm warehouse with two tenants, one 
of which was on a short lease. We renegotiated terms on a new lease and 
then sold the investment for €3.2 million. 

Net occupancy improved across the portfolio with significant lettings 
achieved during the year at our properties in Amersfoort, Venlo and Tiel. 
However, many of the lettings achieved were of a short-term nature and 
we will need to continue marketing the properties strongly to maintain 
occupancy in 2009.

Bunschoten, The Netherlands
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Property ownership

The annualised rent in 
France during the year  
was €2.3 million.

4
properties

Property ownership

At 31 December 2008 the  
portfolio in Belgium 
comprised 49,973 sqm.

13
properties

France

There were no changes to our ownership in France which comprises four 
properties totalling 79,000 sqm. The annualised rent during the year was 
€2.3 million per annum and strong performance through rental indexation 
along with the drop in valuations means that the portfolio is yielding over 
9 per cent. Low capital values place us in a good position in a market 
categorised by weak occupancy demand and weak investor demand.

Belgium

At 31 December 2008 the portfolio in Belgium comprised 49,973 sqm  
of offices and industrial properties. The value of the portfolio was €47.6 
million and produced an 8 per cent initial yield. Our experience in Belgium 
is that it is more of a local market which has been slightly less affected in 
terms of property prices than in other regions. 

There was one change to the portfolio during the year being the sale of a 
property at Lozenberg-Zaventem. This property was a partially occupied 
office building which we had acquired as part of a large portfolio and 
needed considerable work to be brought up to a lettable standard. The 
property was sold to a special purchaser seeking to occupy the building 
and refurbish it to their own requirements. The property was held in a 
single purpose company and, as is usual in Belgium, the company was 
sold to the purchaser rather than the asset. The sale was concluded at 
marginally below our book cost.

Occupancy in Belgium was broadly positive with net improvement during 
the year of 1,400 sqm which represents approximately 25 per cent of the 
vacant property in Belgium.

Heist-op-der-Berg, Belgium
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Finance

Net asset value

As at 31 December 2008 the balance sheet shows shareholder funds of 
£212.5 million (2007: £231.2 million). There are currently 178.4 million 
shares in issue and therefore the basic NAV in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards amounts to 119.1 pence per 
share. This is a fall of 8.1 per cent from the 2007 figure of 129.6 pence per 
share. The diluted EPRA NAV which takes into consideration the dilution 
through any share options and adding back deferred tax on the valuation 
of investment properties is 128 pence per share compared with the 2007 
figure of 138 pence per share, a fall of 7 per cent.

The key factors behind this drop in the NAV is approximately a 10 per cent 
fall in the value of the properties from 2007 and the dividend paid during 
the year of 3.2 pence per share. These items are ameliorated by the 
income profit generated by the business and a slight improvement due to 
currency exchange rate gains.

Currency

During 2008, the Euro strengthened against the Pound from €1.36 to the 
Pound to €1.03 to the Pound, a strengthening of 24 per cent over the 12 
months. As a business which reports in Sterling, Hansteen took the view  
at flotation that it was important to hedge the potential risk of fluctuating 
exchange rates. All of our borrowings are denominated in Euros and until 
11 December 2008 we hedged the equity investments of the Group 
through hedging instruments. The Group had three forward currency 
contracts to acquire Sterling on 27 July 2009. These forward currency 
contracts isolated the Group from the effects of currency fluctuations  
and, given the strength of the Euro, meant we did not benefit from the 
increased value of our properties resulting from Sterling’s decline. Due to 
the rapid and extreme movement in the exchange rate the Group was 
required to provide increasing cash collateral against the hedging 
contracts. With no certainty as to whether or when the weakness of 
Sterling would abate, maintaining the contracts would have left the Group 
exposed to unquantifiable cash commitments. Accordingly, the Group 
terminated its hedging with a one-off cash cost of €57.6 million, which is 
due to be settled in July 2009. 

In the event, the Euro continued to strengthen through to the year ending 
31 December 2008 and we were able to benefit from that strengthening. 
The Group is currently unhedged in relation to the equity element of its 
investments in Europe which is approximately 45 per cent of its holdings. 
The Board continues to monitor the position in relation to currency risk and 
may enter into further hedges at a future date.

Share Capital

On 19 March 2008 Hansteen announced the reduction of its share 
premium account by the sum of £60 million. This change, which was 
approved by the Shareholders, was undertaken to ensure there were 
sufficient distributable reserves for ongoing dividend payments, although 
to date all dividends paid have been more than covered by normalised 
profits earned.

Louvan la Neuve, Belgium
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Borrowings

At 31 December 2008 there were bank borrowings and finance lease 
obligations of £286 million (2007: £173 million) which, along with the 
retained cash, resulted in net gearing for the Group of 96.7 per cent or 
a loan to value of approximately 41.5 per cent. However, part of the 
cash balances are restricted and a true net gearing position would 
be 119.2 per cent gearing (2007: 66.4 per cent) or loan to value of 
51.2 per cent (2007: 37.3 per cent).

Our property portfolio and business model is strongly cash generative. 
As at 31 December 2008 the properties generated an annual income of 
approximately 8.4 per cent on carrying value, whereas our debt which is 
approximately half the amount of the properties has an average cost of 
4.7 per cent per annum.

Our borrowings fall into three broad categories:

1 In the Netherlands we have a new loan facility announced in 
June 2008 of €130 million, which is fully drawn. The loan is for  
a five year term ending in 2013 and does not have a loan to 
value covenant. The interest cover covenant is 1.55 and at  
31 December the cover was over 2.5.

2 Hansteen has a revolving bank facility with the Bank of Scotland 
for €200 million of which €141 million was drawn as at 31 
December 2008. This loan is a corporate facility secured on 
properties in Germany and France. This has a loan to value 
covenant of 70 per cent and at 31 December 2008 was secured 
on properties sufficient to give a 59 per cent loan to value. 
Further properties are in the course of being secured which 
would reduce the loan to value to 55 per cent and, if required, 
spare cash resources could be utilised, further reducing the loan 
to value to 50 per cent. 

3 The remaining debt finance is on an individual property basis  
in Belgium and consists of substantially long-term mortgage 
facilities without interest or loan to value covenants.

The Board has analysed the loan facilities in the light of the difficult 
economic environment and falling property values. Due to the high 
yielding nature of the portfolio and the low interest rate environment 
along with the interest hedging instruments described further below there 
is a very significant safety margin in relation to the income covenants 
required by our banking facilities. The issue of loan to value is relevant only 
in relation to the HBOS loan. Hansteen will seek to maintain headroom 
with this facility through individual property sales and debt reduction. 
However, even without such sales, values would need to fall by over 
20 per cent before approaching the loan to value default level. The loan to 
value position may tighten over the next 12 months but the Directors 
believe there is sufficient headroom to meet projections.

Our funding policy, where borrowing is used, is to utilise prudent interest 
rate hedging which includes an element of short-term fixed interest rates 
and interest caps. At 31 December 2008 the average gross cost of 
borrowing for Hansteen was 5 per cent and £716,000 financing costs were 
amortised in the period. The Group has four interest rate caps covering 
total borrowings of €150 million. The interest rate caps are set at 4 per 
cent, 4.5 per cent, 4.95 per cent and 5 per cent. The interest rate caps 
originally cost £592,000 and were revalued at 31 December 2008 balance 
sheet at £329,000.

In addition, our hedging includes €100 million of interest rate swaps.
At 31 December 2008 there was €25 million swapped at 4.16 per cent, 
€25 million swapped at 4.29 per cent and €50 million swapped at 
4.46 per cent.

Outlook

We start 2009 with a robust balance sheet and solid financing. The 
Group is in a good place to weather any further value falls and, just as 
importantly, has a team to take advantage of opportunities which arise 
in a depressed market. There are a significant number of industrial 
property portfolios and investment companies which are currently over 
geared and could provide some unprecedented opportunities for us to 
develop the business.

Our focus for 2009 therefore will be on maintaining the occupancy and 
high income surplus from the existing portfolio prudently managing our 
finances and seeking ways of taking advantage of the current down turn 
in the property cycle. 

Ian Watson and Morgan Jones

Joint Chief Executives
1 April 2009

Tilburg, The Netherlands
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       2008 2007
      Note  £’000 £’000

Group
Revenue      5 34,884 18,400
Cost of sales       (8,174) (1,751)

Gross profit       26,710 16,649
Administrative expenses       (3,934) (4,159)

Operating profit before losses and gains on investment properties  
 and before gain on sale of subsidiary       22,776 12,490
(Losses)/gains on investment properties      9 (41,655) 19,614
Gain on sale of subsidiary      28 161 –

Operating (loss)/profit       (18,718) 32,104
Losses on forward currency contracts      10 (45,006) (11,014)
Finance income      11 2,111 1,649
Finance costs      11 (13,050) (4,549)
Change in fair value of interest rate derivatives      11 (4,579) 238
Foreign exchange gains      11 18,299 1,946

(Loss)/profit before tax       (60,943) 20,374
Tax      12 1,388 (6,799)

(Loss)/profit for the year      7 (59,555) 13,575

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent       (59,571) 13,472
Minority interests       16 103

(Loss)/profit for the year        (59,555) 13,575

Earnings per share
Basic      14 (33.4p) 8.1p

Diluted      14 (33.4p) 8.1p

All results derive from continuing operations

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2008
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Balance sheets
31 December 2008

     Group Company Group  Company
     2008 2008 2007 2007
    Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Non-current assets
Goodwill    15 2,241 – 2,252 –
Property, plant and equipment    16 32 – 31 –
Investment property    17 492,357 – 391,242 –
Investment property held for sale    17 – – 15,417 –
Investment in subsidiary undertakings    18 – 124,655 – 177,752
Deferred tax asset    26 – 15,762 2,885 2,885
Derivative financial instruments    19 273 96 379 379

     494,903 140,513 412,206 181,016

Current assets
Trading properties    20 2,750 – 5,260 –
Trade and other receivables    21 5,831 60,954 3,781 6,954
Cash and cash equivalents    22 80,240 55,617 19,562 13,581
Derivative financial instruments    19 13,747 13,747 – –

     102,568 130,318 28,603 20,535

Total assets     597,471 270,831 440,809 201,551

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables    23 (9,919) (35,544) (6,916) (1,162)
Current tax liabilities     (4,907) (2,861) (2,563) (142)
Borrowings    24 (926) – (2,579) –
Obligations under finance leases    25 (372) – (279) –
Derivative financial instruments    19 (68,407) (68,407) – –

     (84,531) (106,812) (12,337) (1,304)

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings    24 (280,318) – (166,957) –
Obligations under finance leases    25 (4,071) – (3,218) –
Derivative financial instruments    19 (4,509) (1,391) (9,710) (9,710)
Deferred tax liabilities    26 (10,678) – (17,194) –

     (299,576) (1,391) (197,079) (9,710)

Total liabilities     (384,107) (108,203) (209,416) (11,014)

Net assets     213,364 162,628 231,393 190,537

Equity
Share capital    27 17,843 17,843 17,843 17,843
Share premium account     114,312 114,312 174,312 174,312
Translation reserve     60,483 – 13,287 –
Retained earnings     19,907 30,473 25,772 (1,618)

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent     212,545 162,628 231,214 190,537
Minority interest     819 – 179 –

Total equity     213,364 162,628 231,393 190,537

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 1 April 2009.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

I R Watson M L Jones
Director  Director
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    Share Share Translation Retained
    capital premium reserves earnings Total
    2008 2008 2008 2008 2008
   Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group
Exchange differences arising on translation of overseas operations   – – 45,710 – 45,710
Tax credit on items taken directly to equity    – – 1,275 – 1,275
Translation differences recognised on sale of subsidiary    – – 211 – 211

Net gain recognised directly in equity    – – 47,196 – 47,196
Loss for the year    – – – (59,571) (59,571)

Total recognised income and expense for the year    – – 47,196 (59,571) (12,375)
Reduction of share premium account    – (60,000) – 60,000 –
Costs of reduction of share premium account    –  – (22) (22)
Share-based payments    – – – (562) (562)
Dividends paid   13 – – – (5,710) (5,710)
Equity shareholders’ funds at 1 January 2008    17,843 174,312 13,287 25,772 231,214

Equity shareholders’ funds at 31 December 2008    17,843 114,312 60,483 19,907 212,545

Company
Loss for the year    – – – (21,615) (21,615)

Total recognised income and expense for the year    – – – (21,615) (21,615)
Reduction of share premium account    – (60,000) – 60,000 –
Costs of reduction of share premium account    –  – (22) (22)
Share-based payments    – – – (562) (562)
Dividends paid   13 – – – (5,710) (5,710)
Equity shareholders’ funds at 1 January 2008    17,843 174,312 – (1,618) 190,537

Equity shareholders’ funds at 31 December 2008    17,843 114,312 – 30,473 162,628

    Share Share Translation Retained
    capital premium reserves earnings Total
    2007 2007 2007 2007 2007
   Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group
Exchange differences arising on translation of overseas operations   – – 16,143 – 16,143
Tax on items taken directly to equity    – – (1,714) – (1,714)

Net gain recognised directly in equity    – – 14,429 – 14,429
Profit for the year    – – – 13,472 13,472

Total recognised income and expense for the year    – – 14,429 13,472 27,901
Ordinary shares issued at a premium    5,343 64,657 – – 70,000
Cost of issue of shares at a premium    – (1,478) – – (1,478)
Share-based payments    – – – 669 669
Dividends paid   13 – – – (3,750) (3,750)
Equity shareholders’ funds at 1 January 2007    12,500 111,133 (1,142) 15,381 137,872

Equity shareholders’ funds at 31 December 2007    17,843 174,312 13,287 25,772 231,214

Company
Loss for the year    – – – (2,406) (2,406)

Total recognised income and expense for the year    – – – (2,406) (2,406)
Ordinary shares issued at a premium    5,343 64,657 – – 70,000
Cost of issue of shares at a premium    – (1,478) – – (1,478)
Share-based payments    – – – 669 669
Dividends paid   13 – – – (3,750) (3,750)
Equity shareholders’ funds at 1 January 2007    12,500 111,133 – 3,869 127,502

Equity shareholders’ funds at 31 December 2007    17,843 174,312 – (1,618) 190,537

As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the profit and loss account of the parent company is not presented as part of these 
accounts. The parent company’s loss for the financial year amounted to £21,615,000 (2007: £2,406,000).

Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2008
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       2008 2007
      Note £’000 £’000

Group
Net cash inflow from operating activities      29 17,925 8,475
Investing activities
Interest received       2,111 1,649
Additions to property, plant and equipment       (25) (19)
Additions to investment properties       (30,461) (193,367)
Proceeds on sale of investment properties       22,659 460
Acquisition of subsidiaries       – (12,339)
Disposal of subsidiaries      28 531 –

Net cash used in investing activities       (5,185) (203,616)

Financing activities
Dividend paid       (5,710) (3,750)
Proceeds from issue of shares at a premium net of expenses       – 68,522
Costs of reduction of share premium account       (22) –
Repayments of obligations under finance leases       (138) (30)
New bank loans raised (net of expenses)       165,839 132,800
Bank loans repaid       (114,566) –
(Reduction)/increase in bank overdrafts       (2,041) 1,826
Additions to derivative financial instruments       (464) (71)
Capital contribution from minority shareholders       493 69
Dividend paid to minority shareholders       (14) –

Net cash from financing activities       43,377 199,366

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents       56,117 4,225
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year       19,562 14,395
Effect of foreign exchange rates       4,561 942

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year       80,240 19,562

Company
Net cash outflow from operating activities      29 (14,503) (3,504)

Investing activities
Interest received       5,146 4,950
Dividends received from subsidiaries       – 2,100
Investments in subsidiaries       (14) (66,467)
Loans repaid by subsidiaries       53,111 –

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities       58,243 (59,417)

Financing activities
Dividend paid       (5,710) (3,750)
Proceeds from issue of shares at a premium net of expenses       – 68,522
Costs of reduction of share premium account        (22) –
Additions to derivative financial instruments       (103) (71)

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities       (5,835) 64,701

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents       37,905 1,780
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year       13,581 10,938
Effect of foreign exchange rates       4,131 863

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year       55,617 13,581

Cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2008
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1. General information
Hansteen Holdings PLC was incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 1985 on 27 October 2005. The address of the 
registered office is 1 Berkeley Street, London W1J 8DJ.

The Company was listed on AIM on 29 November 2005.

The Group’s principal activities are those of a property group investing mainly in industrial properties in Continental Europe.

These financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
Company operates. Foreign operations are included in accordance with the policies set out in note 3.

2. Adoption of new and revised standards
Standards, amendments and interpretations that became effective in 2008 but have no effect on the Group’s operations:
IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 Group and Treasury Share Transactions
IFRIC 12 Service concession arrangements
IFRIC 13 Customer loyalty programmes
IFRIC 14 IAS 19 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by 
the Group:
IFRS 1 (amended) Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly-Controlled Entity or Associate
IFRS 2 (amended) Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
IFRS 3 (revised 2008)  Business Combinations
IFRS 8  Operating Segments
IAS 1 (revised 2007) Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 23 (revised 2007) Borrowing Costs 
IAS 27 (revised 2008) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
IAS 32 (amended) Financial instruments: Presentation
IAS 39 (amended)/ 
IFRS7 (amended) Reclassification of Financial Instruments/Reclassification of Financial Assets: Effective Date and Transition.
IAS 39 (amended) Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items
IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash assets to Owners
IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of the standards and interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the financial 
statements of the Group except for potential additional segment disclosures when IFRS 8 comes into effect for periods commencing on or 
after 1 January 2009.

3. Significant accounting policies 
Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(‘IFRSs’) adopted by the European Union and therefore the Group financial statements comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of investment properties and certain 
financial instruments. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires the use of estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, 
event or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates. The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its 
subsidiaries) made up to 31 December. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Minority interests 
consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination (see below) and the minority’s share of changes in 
equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are 
allocated against the interests of the Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional 
investment to cover the losses.

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008
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Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2008

3. Significant accounting policies continued
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date 
of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those 
used by the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Business combinations
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the 
fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange 
for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date except for 
non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations, which are recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business 
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after 
reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the 
cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale, except investment properties, are measured at the lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Investment properties classified as held for sale are carried at fair value in accordance with IAS 40 ‘Investment Properties’.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) 
is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale which should be expected to qualify for 
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable 
assets and liabilities of a subsidiary, associate or jointly-controlled entity at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset 
at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill which is recognised as an asset is reviewed 
for impairment annually. Any impairment is recognised immediately in profit or loss and is not subsequently reversed.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more 
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the 
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then 
to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for 
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary, associate or jointly-controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of profit 
or loss on disposal.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods and services 
provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales-related taxes.

Rental income is recognised on an accruals basis. Where a lease incentive is granted, which does not enhance the value of the property,  
or a rent-free period is granted, the effective cost is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period from the date of lease commencement 
to the earliest termination date. 

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.

Revenue from the sale of trading and investment properties is recognised when the significant risks and returns have been transferred to the 
buyer. This is generally on unconditional exchange of contracts. The profit on disposal of trading and investment properties is determined as 
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset at the commencement of the accounting period plus 
additions in the period.
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3. Significant accounting policies continued
Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the 
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. Where a property is held under a head lease it is initially recognised as an asset  
as the sum of the premium paid on acquisition and the present value of minimum ground rent payments. The corresponding rent liability to 
the head leaseholder is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Where only the buildings element of a property lease is 
classified as a finance lease, the ground rent payments for the land element are shown within operating leases. Rentals payable under 
operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Foreign currencies
The individual financial statements of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which it 
operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each group 
company are expressed in pounds sterling, which is the functional currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for the 
consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign 
currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets 
and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary 
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was 
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are included in profit or loss 
for the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included  
in profit or loss for the period in which they arise except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which 
gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also 
recognised directly in equity.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated at 
exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, 
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s foreign currency translation reserve. Such 
translation differences are recognised as income or as expenses in the period in which the operation is disposed of.

Share-based payments
The fair value of equity-settled share-based payments to employees is determined at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period based on the Company’s estimate of options that will eventually vest. Fair value is measured by use of a 
binomial model for the Employee Share Option Scheme. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted based on management’s 
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The fair value of the shares to be awarded under the Long-Term Incentive Plan is determined at the measurement date by reference to the 
current share price at that date less the discounted value of estimated future dividends.

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement 
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by  
the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet 
liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred 
tax is measured on a non-discounted basis.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred 
tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the 
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities 
on a net basis.
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Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2008

3. Significant accounting policies continued
Property, plant and equipment
This comprises computer and office equipment. Computers and office equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
recognised impairment loss. 

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of computers and office equipment, over their estimated useful lives, using the 
straight-line method, on the following bases:
Computers three years
Office equipment three years

Investment properties
Investment properties, which comprises freehold and leasehold property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, are treated as 
acquired when the Group assumes the significant risks and rewards of ownership. Acquisitions of investment properties including related 
transaction costs and subsequent additions of a capital nature are initially recognised in the accounts at cost. At each reporting date the 
investment properties are re-valued to their fair values based on a professional valuation at the balance sheet date. Gains or losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Investments in subsidiary undertakings
Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less provisions for impairment. 

Trading properties
Trading properties are included in the balance sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable value and are treated as acquired when the Group 
assumes the significant risks and rewards of ownership. Cost includes development costs specifically attributable to properties in the course 
of development. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less further costs expected to be incurred to completion and 
disposal. 

Financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Financial Assets
All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract whose 
terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, 
plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair 
value. 

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ (FVTPL), ‘held-to-
maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and 
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or 
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life 
of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other 
than those financial assets designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL. A financial asset 
is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or•	
it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term •	
profit-taking; or 
it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.•	
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3. Significant accounting policies continued
A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or •	
the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance is •	
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and information 
about the Group is provided internally on that basis; or
it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and •	
Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL; or
Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss •	
recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are 
classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of 
interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are 
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial 
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted. Objective evidence of impairment could include:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or•	
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or•	
it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.•	

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently 
assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past 
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the normal average credit period, as 
well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade 
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the 
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the 
carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

De-recognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire; or it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest 
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. 

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity 
instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2008

3. Significant accounting policies continued
Financial guarantee contract liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and are subsequently measured at the higher of:

the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and •	
Contingent Assets; and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the revenue recognition •	
policies set out above.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL where the financial liability is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL. A financial 
liability is classified as held for trading if:

it has been incurred principally for the purpose of disposal in the near future; or•	
it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term •	
profit-taking; or 
it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument. •	

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or •	
the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance is •	
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and information 
about the Group is provided internally on that basis; or
it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and •	
Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised 
in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis. 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the 
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

De-recognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk, 
including foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swaps and foreign currency options.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair 
value at each balance sheet date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months 
and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities.

4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date used in preparing 
these accounts are:

Property valuations
In determining the fair value of investment properties under IAS 40 at open market value, there is a degree of uncertainty and judgement 
involved. The Group uses external professional valuers who provide independent valuations of the investment properties.

Financial instruments
Certain derivative financial instruments are carried at fair value in accordance with IAS 39. These valuations are performed by third-party 
external professionals.
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4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty continued
Impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill has 
been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating 
units and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.

Valuation of Long-Term Incentive Plan (‘LTIP’)
In assessing whether any share awards are to be granted under the LTIP the Company is required to estimate the growth of the net assets of 
the Group over the period of the LTIP and the fair value of a share at the grant date and the balance sheet date. These estimates involve 
making a variety of assumptions concerning inter alia rents and related costs, yields, administrative costs, interest rates, exchange rates, 
dividend rates and the rate and level of property acquisitions.

5. Revenue
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Property rental income       34,884 18,400

Interest receivable on bank deposits       2,074 1,599
Other interest receivable       37 50

       2,111 1,649

Total       36,995 20,049

6. Business and geographical segments
Business segments
The Group’s primary reporting segments are the classification of its properties based on whether they are held for investment or trading. The 
secondary reporting segments are the classification of its properties based on geographic location.

The Company’s business is to invest in its subsidiaries and therefore it operates in a single segment.

a) Totals by business segment

   Trading Investment  Trading Investment
   properties properties Total properties properties Total
   2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group
Property rental income   – 34,884 34,884 – 18,400 18,400

Revenue   – 34,884 34,884 – 18,400 18,400
Direct property operating expenses   (65) (5,307) (5,372) (62) (1,696) (1,758)
Impairment of trading properties   (2,802) – (2,802) – – –
Cost of sales of trading properties   – – – 7 – 7
Administrative expenses   (52) (3,750) (3,802) (59) (2,954) (3,013)

Operating (loss)/profit before (losses)/gains on investment properties  
 and sale of subsidiary   (2,919) 25,827 22,908 (114) 13,750 13,636
(Losses)/gains on investment properties   – (41,655) (41,655) – 19,614 19,614
Gain on disposal of subsidiary   – 161 161 – – –

Segment result   (2,919) (15,667) (18,586) (114) 33,364 33,250

Unallocated corporate expenses     (132)   (1,146)

Operating (loss)/profit     (18,718)   32,104
Losses on forward currency contract     (45,006)   (11,014)
Net finance income/(costs)     2,781   (716)

(Loss)/profit before tax     (60,943)   20,374
Tax     1,388   (6,799)

(Loss)/profit for the year      (59,555)   13,575

Direct property operating expenses relating to investment properties that did not generate any rental income were £nil (2007: £35,200).
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Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2008

6. Business and geographical segments continued
Balance sheet

   Trading Investment  Trading Investment
   properties properties Total properties properties Total
   2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group
Goodwill   – 2,241 2,241 – 2,252 2,252
Property assets   2,750 492,357 495,107 5,260 406,659 411,919
Other assets   58 30,124 30,182 2 9,487 9,489

Segment assets   2,808 524,722 527,530 5,262 418,398 423,660

Unallocated corporate assets     69,941   17,149

Consolidated total assets     597,471   440,809

Segment liabilities   (164) (16,530) (16,694) (11) (9,105) (9,116)

Unallocated corporate liabilities     (367,413)   (200,300)

Consolidated total liabilities     (384,107)   (209,416)

Additions to properties   292 30,461 30,753 109 218,880 218,989

b) Totals by geographic segment
The Group’s property operations are located in Belgium, France, Germany, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom. The following table 
provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue by geographical market:

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Group
Belgium       3,495 946
France       1,863 1,145
Germany       16,212 7,960
Netherlands       13,314 8,349

       34,884 18,400

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of segment assets and additions to properties analysed by the geographical area in which 
the assets are located:

     Carrying  Carrying
     amount of  amount of
     segment  Additions to segment Additions to
     assets properties assets properties
     2008 2008 2007 2007
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group
Belgium     51,146 26 44,093 36,880
France     24,599 – 21,144 3,757
Germany     248,914 18,217 192,777 106,965
Netherlands     200,063 12,218 160,384 71,278
United Kingdom     2,808 292 5,262 109

     527,530 30,753 423,660 218,989

7. (Loss)/profit for the year
(Loss)/profit for the year has been arrived at after (charging)/crediting:

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Net foreign exchange gains included in administrative expenses      523 146
Net foreign exchange gains included in net finance income       18,299 1,946
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment       (24) (16)
Profit on sale of investment properties       334 19
(Decrease)/increase in fair value of investment properties       (41,989) 19,595
Impairment of trading properties       (2,802) –
Profit on sale of subsidiary       161 –
Auditors’ remuneration       350 421
Staff costs (see note 8)       (1,644) (2,447)
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7. (Loss)/profit for the year continued
The analysis of auditors’ remuneration is as follows:

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates for the audit of the Company’s and Group annual accounts 88 69
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates for other services to the Group:
– The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to local statutory requirements     142 116

Total audit fees       230 185

– Tax services       119 212
– Other services       1 24

Total non-audit fees       120 236

Fees payable to Deloitte LLP and their associates for non-audit services to the Company are not required to be disclosed separately because 
the consolidated financial statements are required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis.

Tax services fees paid to Deloitte LLP and their associates comprise fees for UK and overseas income tax, VAT and property tax 
advisory services.

In addition to the fees disclosed above fees amounting to £15,000 (2007: £78,000) were paid to associates of Deloitte LLP for due diligence 
services relating to corporate acquisitions.

8. Staff costs
The average monthly number of employees (including executive directors) was:

       2008 2007
       No No

Administration       15 9

Their aggregate remuneration was:

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Wages and salaries       1,919 1,422
Share-based payments       (562) 669
Social security costs       160 264
Other pension costs       127 92

       1,644 2,447

The amounts shown against pension costs comprise amounts payable by the Group to personal pension schemes of the employees.

9. (Losses)/gains on investment properties

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

(Decrease)/increase in fair value of investment properties       (41,989) 19,595
Profit on disposal of investment properties       334 19

       (41,655) 19,614

10. Losses on forward currency contracts

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Decrease in fair value of forward currency contracts       (45,006) (11,014)
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Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2008

11. Net finance income/(costs)

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Interest receivable on bank deposits       2,074 1,599
Other interest receivable       37 50

Finance income       2,111 1,649

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts       (12,866) (4,502)
Interest payable on obligations under finance leases       (184) (47)

Finance costs       (13,050) (4,549)

Net interest paid       (10,939) (2,900)
(Decrease)/increase in fair value of interest rate swaps       (4,579) 238
Foreign exchange gains       18,299 1,946

Net finance income/(costs)       2,781 (716)

12. Tax

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

UK current tax
On net income of the current year       6,444 1,024
Charge in respect of prior years       1,629 –

       8,073 1,024

Foreign current tax
On net income of the current year       1,368 1,242
Credit in respect of prior years       (2,300) –

       (932) 1,242

Total current tax       7,141 2,266
Deferred tax (see note 26)       (8,529) 4,533

Total tax (credit)/charge       (1,388) 6,799

UK Corporation tax is calculated at 28.5% (2007: 30%) of the estimated assessable profit for the period.

Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

The tax (credit)/charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)/profit per the income statement as follows:

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit before tax       (60,943) 20,374

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 28.5% (2007: 30%)       (17,369) 6,112
Tax effect of:
Gain on investment properties caused by movement in exchange rates       14,812 –
Reduction in liabilities due to strengthening of euro exchange rate      (2,221) –
Deferred tax assets not recognised       2,111 –
Effect of different tax rates in overseas subsidiaries       458 576
Indexation relief       (393) –
Expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit      268 68
Effect on deferred tax balances due to the change in UK tax rate from 30% to 28% effective from 1 April 2008  320 335
Short-term timing differences       72 1
Prior year tax charge/(credit)       554 (293)

       (1,388) 6,799

In addition to the amount credited to the income statement in the year to 31 December 2008, tax amounting to £1,275,000 relating to realised 
exchange gains on loans to overseas operations has been credited directly to translation reserves (2007: £1,714,000 tax charge on unrealised 
exchange gains).
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13. Dividends

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Group and Company
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the period:
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2008 of 3.2p (2007: 3p) per share     5,710 3,750

14. Earnings per share and net asset value per share
The calculations for earnings per share, based on the weighted average number of shares, are shown in the table below.

The European Public Real Estate Association (‘EPRA’) has issued recommended bases for the calculation of certain per share information 
and these are included in the following tables:

    Weighted    Weighted
    average    average
    number of Earnings  number of Earnings
   Earnings shares per share Earnings shares per share
   2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007
   £’000 000s pence £’000 000s pence

Basic EPS   (59,571) 178,435 (33.4) 13,472 166,430 8.1
Dilutive share options   – – – – 67 –

Diluted EPS   (59,571) 178,435 (33.4) 13,472 166,497 8.1

Adjustments:
Revaluation losses/(gains) on investment properties   41,989   (19,595)
Profit on the sale of investment properties   (334)   (19)
Profit on the sale of subsidiary undertaking   (161)   –
Tax on the sale of investment properties    456   6
Change in fair value of financial instruments   49,585   10,776
Deferred tax on the above items   (10,200)   4,419

Diluted EPRA EPS   21,764  12.2 9,059  5.4

The calculations for net asset value (‘NAV’) per share are shown in the table below:

   Equity  Net asset Equity  Net asset
   shareholders’ Number of value shareholders’ Number of value
   funds shares per share funds shares per share
   2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007
   £’000 000s pence £’000 000s pence

Basic NAV   212,545 178,435 119.1 231,214 178,435 129.6
Unexercised share options   – – n/a 428 400 n/a

Diluted NAV   212,545 178,435 119.1 231,642 178,835 129.5

Adjustments:
Goodwill   (2,241)   (2,252)
Fair value of trading properties   –   740
Fair value of interest rate derivatives   4,180   (379)
Deferred tax   13,193   17,378  

Diluted EPRA NAV   227,677  127.6 247,129  138.2
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Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2008

15. Goodwill

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Group
Cost and carrying amount:
At 1 January        2,252 –
Recognised on acquisition of subsidiary undertakings       – 2,252
Recognised on disposal of a subsidiary undertaking       (11) –

At 31 December       2,241 2,252

The goodwill recognised on acquisition of subsidiary undertakings relates to the acquisition, on 31 August 2007, of a portfolio of Belgian 
subsidiary companies which is considered to be the relevant cash-generating unit. The goodwill recognised on the disposal of a subsidiary 
undertaking relates to the disposal, on 31 October 2008, of Erangra NV, one of the Belgian subsidiary companies originally acquired on 
31 August 2007.

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are any indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts with regard to the Belgian subsidiary companies are determined on the basis of fair value less costs to sell by 
reference to the fair valuation of the underlying properties. The assumptions in relation to determining the fair value of the Belgian portfolio are:

Fair value of the investment properties in the portfolio – the fair value of these properties are determined under RICS and in accordance •	
with IVA1 of the International Valuation Standards on a bi-annual basis; and
The discount to be applied in the sale transaction in respect of deferred tax liabilities carried in the individual entities – it is normal business •	
practice in Belgium to execute property transactions by sale of a company. On disposal of a property company, a sales price discount is 
normally negotiated because of the inherent capital gains tax in these companies. The discount varies widely and is open to negotiation. 
Following the recent disposal of a Belgian subsidiary, whereby no sales price discount was necessary and the full valuation price was 
realised, the Group have assumed that no sales price discount will be necessary for the disposal of the remainder of the portfolio. 

A sensitivity analysis indicates that a 12% discount on the underlying deferred tax balances included in the Belgian subsidiary companies as 
at 31 December 2008 would remove all available headroom. 
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16. Property, plant and equipment

      Office Computer
      equipment equipment Total
      £’000 £’000 £’000

Group
2008
Cost:
At 1 January 2008      1 56 57
Additions      1 24 25

At 31 December 2008      2 80 82

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2008      – 26 26
Charge for the period      1 23 24

At 31 December 2008      1 49 50

Net book value:
At 31 December 2008      1 31 32

At 31 December 2007      1 30 31

2007
Cost:
At 1 January 2007      1 37 38
Additions      – 19 19

At 31 December 2007      1 56 57

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2007      – 10 10
Charge for the period      – 16 16

At 31 December 2007      – 26 26

Net book value:
At 31 December 2007      1 30 31

At 31 December 2006      1 27 28
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Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2008

17. Investment property

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Group
At 1 January       391,242 139,593
Additions  – property purchases       29,758 196,705 

– capital expenditure       562 689
Acquisition of subsidiaries       – 36,847
Revaluations included in income statement       (41,956) 19,595
Disposal of subsidiary       (2,668) –
Disposals       (4,979) (440)
Transfer to investment property held for sale       – (15,417)
Exchange adjustment       120,398 13,670

At 31 December       492,357 391,242

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Group
Investment property held for sale
At 1 January       15,417 –
Additions – capital expenditure       141 –
Transfer from investment property       – 15,417
Revaluations included in income statement       (33) –
Disposals       (17,345) –
Exchange adjustment       1,820

At 31 December       – 15,417

All investment properties are stated at market value as at 31 December 2008 and have been valued by independent professionally qualified 
external valuers, King Sturge LLP. The valuations have been prepared in accordance with the Valuation Standards (6th Edition) published by 
The Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors and with IVA1 of the International Valuation Standards.

The Group has pledged certain of its investment properties to secure bank loan facilities and a finance lease granted to the Group.
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18. Investment in subsidiary undertakings

      Shares in  Loans to
      subsidiary  subsidiary
      undertakings undertakings Total
      £’000 £’000 £’000

Company
Cost and net book value:
Balance at 1 January 2008      124,641 53,111 177,752
Additions/(repayments)      14 (53,111) (53,097)

At 31 December 2008      124,655 – 124,655

Details of all of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2008 are as follows:

        Proportion Proportion
       of of
      Place ownership voting power
      of interest held
      incorporation % %

Hansteen Belgium Limited     Great Britain 100 100
Hansteen Developments Limited     Great Britain 100 100
Hansteen Europe Limited     Great Britain 100 100
Hansteen Land Limited     Great Britain 100 100
Hansteen Limited     Great Britain 100 100
Hansteen France SAS     France 100 100
Hansteen Germany Limited     Great Britain 100 100
Hansteen Germany (2) Limited     Great Britain 100 100
Hansteen Germany (3) Limited     Great Britain 100 100
Hansteen Germany Residential Limited     Great Britain 100 100
Hansteen Germany B.V.     The Netherlands 100 100
Hansteen Netherlands B.V.     The Netherlands 100 100
Hansteen Ormix B.V.     The Netherlands 50 100
Arman B01 BVBA     Belgium 100 100
Hert BVBA     Belgium 100 100
I.P.I Nossegem NV     Belgium 100 100
Jezusstraat 22 NV     Belgium 100 100
Small Island Management NV     Belgium 100 100
Tycoons Immo BVBA     Belgium 100 100
Vignée Invest NV     Belgium 100 100
Waterloo Investments NV     Belgium 100 100

Each of the undertakings listed above is engaged in property development, investment and management.
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Notes to the financial statements continued
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19. Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are included in the balance sheet as follows:

     Group Company Group Company
     2008 2008 2007 2007
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading
Non-current assets      273 96 379 379
Current assets     13,747 13,747 – –
Current liabilities     (68,407) (68,407) – –
Non-current Liabilities     (4,509) (1,391) (9,710) (9,710)

     (58,896) (55,955) 9,331 (9,331)

The movements on derivative financial instruments are as follows: 

     Forward Interest Interest
     currency rate rate
     contract caps swaps Total
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group
Financial assets and liabilities held for trading
Fair value at 1 January 2008     (9,710) 235 144 (9,331)
Additions at cost     – 464 – 464
Revaluations included in income statement     (45,006) (396) (4,183) (49,585)
Exchange difference     – 26 (470) (444)

Fair value at 31 December 2008     (54,716) 329 (4,509) (58,896)

Company
Financial assets and liabilities held for trading
Fair value at 1 January 2008     (9,710) 235 144 (9,331)
Additions at cost     – 103 – 103
Revaluations included in income statement     (45,006) (186) (1,535) (46,727)

Fair value at 31 December 2008     (54,716) 152 (1,391) (55,955)

20. Trading properties

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Group
Land and related costs       2,750 5,260

At 31 December 2008 an impairment of £2,802,000 (2007: £nil) has been charged to the income statement to write the carrying value of the 
trading properties down to net realisable value.
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21. Trade and other receivables

     Group Company Group Company
     2008 2008 2007 2007
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade receivables     2,226 – 1,749 –
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings     – 60,352 – 6,227
Other receivables     1,258 8 484 –
Prepayments and accrued income     2,347 594 1,548 727

     5,831 60,954 3,781 6,954

Group trade receivables are shown after deducting a provision for bad and doubtful debts of £688,000 (2007: £276,000). The movement in 
the provision during the year was recognised entirely in income.

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximate their fair value.

22. Cash and cash equivalents

     Group Company Group Company
     2008 2008 2007 2007
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash and cash equivalents     80,240 55,617 19,562 13,581

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. 
The carrying value of these assets approximates to their fair value.

Included in cash and cash equivalents held by the Company is an amount of £47,874,000 held on interest-bearing deposit at Merrill Lynch 
International Bank Limited as collateral security for forward currency contracts due to mature on 27 July 2009. 

23. Trade and other payables

     Group Company Group Company
     2008 2008 2007 2007
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade payables     1,882 24 1,388 13
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings     – 35,335 – 849
Other payables     1,440 – 929 –
Accruals     3,145 185 2,742 300
Deferred income     3,452 – 1,857 –

     9,919 35,544 6,916 1,162

Trade creditors and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average credit period 
taken for trade purchases by the Company is 23 days (2007: three days). For most suppliers no interest is charged on the trade payables for 
the first 30 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged on the outstanding balances at various interest rates. The 
Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value.
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24. Borrowings

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Group
Secured at amortised cost
Bank overdrafts       – 1,825
Bank loans       283,329 169,088
Unamortised borrowing costs       (2,085) (1,377)

       281,244 169,536

Total borrowings
Amount due for settlement within 12 months       926 2,579
Amount due for settlement after 12 months       280,318 166,957

Bank loans       281,244 169,536

On 25 July 2006 Hansteen Holdings PLC and certain of its subsidiary undertakings entered into a five year Euros 230,000,000 revolving bank 
loan facility with an expiry date of 25 July 2011. On 29 May 2008 following the re-financing of the Dutch portfolio of investment properties this 
facility was reduced to Euros 200,000,000. The loan is secured on the shares of the borrowing subsidiaries and their investment properties 
and is guaranteed by Hansteen Holdings PLC and the borrowing subsidiaries. Interest on the amounts drawn under the loan facility is charged 
at EURIBOR plus 0.8%. The Group has drawn down Euros 141,000,000 under this facility at 31 December 2008 (2007: Euros 149,000,000). 

On 25 May 2008 Hansteen Netherlands B.V. and Hansteen Ormix B.V., both Dutch subsidiaries, entered into a five year Euros 130,000,000 
bank loan facility with an expiry date of 1 June 2013. The Euros 130,000,000 drawn down under the facility was used to repay existing 
borrowings of the Dutch subsidiaries. The loan is secured on the properties of Hansteen Netherlands B.V. and Hansteen Ormix B.V. The net 
sales proceeds arising from sales of investment properties are required to be used to reduce the bank loan unless re-invested in investment 
properties. Interest on the amounts drawn under the loan facility is charged at EURIBOR plus 1.55%. At 31 December 2008 the Group has 
drawn down Euros 130,000,000 under this facility (2007: Euros nil).

The Belgian subsidiaries have a number of facilities secured on the Belgian investment properties with expiry dates ranging from 1 January 
2010 to 31 March 2026 and interest charged at EURIBOR plus 0.75% to 1.5%. The aggregate amount outstanding at 31 December 2008 in 
respect of these bank loans is Euros 22,019,000 (2007: Euros 22,881,000).

Security for secured borrowings at 31 December 2008 is provided by charges on property with an aggregate carrying value of £462,000,000 
(2007: £318,213,000).

The Directors estimate that the book value of the Group’s bank loans approximates to their fair value.

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Group
Maturity
The bank loans are repayable as follows:
Within one year or on demand       926 753
Between one and two years       2,958 45,152
In the third to fifth years inclusive       267,952 114,079
Over five years       11,493 9,104

       283,329 169,088

Undrawn committed facilities
Expiring after more than two years       57,049 59,475

       Floating rate borrowings
     2008 2008 2007 2007
     % £’000 % £’000

Interest rate and currency profile
Euros     4.71 283,329 5.31 169,088

A number of interest rate caps and swaps have been entered into in respect of the amounts drawn under the loan facilities at 31 December 2008 
to hedge Euro borrowings at an average rate of 4.53% (2007: 4.39%) (see note 19). 
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25. Obligations under finance leases

 Minimum lease Present value of 
 payments lease payments
     2008 2007 2008 2007
     £ £ £ £

Group
Amounts payable under finance leases:
Within one year     372 279 168 126
In the second to fifth years inclusive     1,490 1,131 739 553
After five years     4,734 3,877 3,536 2,818

     6,596 5,287 4,443 3,497
Less: future finance charges     (2,153) (1,790) n/a n/a

Present value of lease obligations     4,443 3,497 4,443 3,497

Less: amount due for settlement within 12 months (shown under current liabilities)     (372) (279)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months       4,071 3,218

The lease is held in I.P.I. Nossegem NV, a Belgian subsidiary and is denominated in Euros. The lease term outstanding at 31 December 2008 
is 15 years (2007: 16 years). For the year ended 31 December 2008, the interest rate implicit in the lease was 5.045% (2007: 5.228%). Interest 
rates are fixed every five years and interest rate and capital repayments adjusted to reflect this. 

The fair value of the Group’s lease obligations approximates their carrying amount.

The Group’s obligations under the finance lease are secured by the lessors’ rights over the leased assets.

26. Deferred tax
Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial 
reporting purposes:

     Group Company Group Company
     2008 2008 2007 2007
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Deferred tax assets     – 15,762 2,885 2,885
Deferred tax liabilities     (10,678) – (17,194) –

     (10,678) 15,762 (14,309) 2,885

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised and movements thereon during the reporting period.

     Currency UK tax on
 Revaluation Depreciation Exchange Indexation contracts retained   
 of of gains on on and earnings in  Short-term 
 investment investment investment investment interest rate overseas  timing 
 properties properties properties properties derivatives subsidiaries Losses differences Total
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group
At 1 January 2008 (16,065) (1,208) – – 2,658 (320) 947 (321) (14,309)
Disposed (see note 28) 321 31 – –  – (22) 327 657
Credit/(charge) to income 11,230 (1,265) (14,601) 1,299 13,545 (1,176) (5) (490) 8,529
Exchange differences (2,815) (600) (2,595) 231 83 – 276 (143) (5,555)

At 31 December 2008 (7,329) (3,042) (17,196) 1,530 16,286 (1,496) 1,196 (627) (10,678)

Company   
At 1 January 2008 – – – – 2,658 – – 227 2,885
Credit/(charge) to income – – – – 13,074 – – (197) 12,877

At 31 December 2008 – – – – 15,732 – – 30 15,762

At 31 December 2008 the Group has unutilised tax losses amounting to £11,709,000 (2007: £2,796,000) available for offset against future 
profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £3,528,000 (2007: £2,796,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has 
been recognised in respect of the remaining £8,181,000 (2007: £nil) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in 
unrecognised tax losses are losses of £7,383,000 (2007: £nil) that will expire in 2017. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At 31 December 2008 full provision of £1,196,000 (2007: £320,000) has been made for temporary differences associated with undistributed 
earnings of overseas subsidiaries.
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27. Share capital

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Authorised
250,000,000 (2007: 250,000,000) ordinary shares of 10p each      25,000 25,000

Issued and fully paid
178,435,117 (2007: 178,435,117) ordinary shares of 10p each       17,843 17,843

The share capital comprises one class of ordinary shares carrying no right to fixed income.

28. Disposal of subsidiary
On 31 October 2008 the Group disposed of 100% of the issued share capital of Erangra NV, a company incorporated and registered in 
Belgium for cash consideration of £1,333,000 net of disposal expenses. The company was originally acquired on 31 August 2007 and 
engaged in property investment and management in Belgium. The net assets of Erangra NV at the date of disposal and at 31 December 
2007 were as follows:

       31 October 31 December
       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Investment properties       2,668 2,739
Trade and other receivables       27 56
Cash and cash equivalents       802 776
Trade and other payables       (81) (119)
Bank loans       (1,387) (1,395)
Deferred tax liabilities       (657) (679)
Attributable goodwill       11 11
Translation differences on net assets       (211) (113)

       1,172 1,276

Gain on disposal       161 

Total consideration       1,333 

Satisfied by: 
Cash        1,400 
Less disposal expenses       (67) 

       1,333 

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: 
Cash consideration net of disposal expenses       1,333 
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of       (802)

       531 

Erangra NV contributed £168,000 revenue and a loss after tax of £105,000 to the Group’s revenue and profit after tax in the period from 
1 January 2008 to 31 October 2008 (Period from 31 August 2007 to 31 December 2007: revenue of £67,000 and a loss after tax of £76,000).



Hansteen Holdings PLC
Annual report and accounts 2008 Financial Statements 39

29. Notes to the cash flow statement

     Group Company Group Company
     2008 2008 2007 2007
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit for the year     (59,555) (21,615) 13,575 (2,406)
Adjustments for:
Share-based employee remuneration     (562) (562) 669 669
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment     24 – 16 –
Impairment of trading properties     2,802 – – –
Losses/(gains) on investment properties     41,655 – (19,614) –
Gain on sale of subsidiary     (161) – – –
Losses on forward currency contracts     45,006 45,006 11,014 11,014
Dividends from subsidiaries     – – – (2,100)
Net finance income/(costs)     6,678 (8,476) 1,720 (5,983)
Tax     (1,388) (9,784) 6,799 (1,944)

Operating cash inflows/(outflows) before movements in working capital   34,499 4,569 14,179 (750)
Increase in trading properties     (292) – (109) –
Increase in receivables     (305) (46,105) (1,107) (535)
Increase in payables     764 28,688 2,908 241

Cash generated by/(used in) operations     34,666 (12,848) 15,871 (1,044)
Income taxes paid     (4,339) (374) (3,559) (2,453)
Interest paid     (12,402) (1,281) (3,837) (7)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities     17,925 (14,503) 8,475 (3,504)

30. Operating lease arrangements
The Group as lessee

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense in the year:    524 260

As at the balance sheet date the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases, which fall due as follows:

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Within one year       614 410
In the second to fifth years inclusive       1,131 403
After five years       16,002 3,354

       17,747 4,167

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group under ground rent leases for certain of its investment properties and 
rentals payable in respect of its head office property under a licence agreement with an unexpired term of 12 months as at the balance 
sheet date.

The Group as lessor
The Group leases all of its investment properties under operating leases. As at the balance sheet date the Group had contracted with tenants 
for the following future aggregate minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases: 

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Within one year       36,401 26,093
In the second to fifth years inclusive       80,298 64,601
After five years       39,219 30,115

       155,918 120,809
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31. Share-based payments
During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group had two share-based payment arrangements with employees. Both of the Group’s 
share-based payment schemes are equity settled, either by award of options to acquire ordinary shares (Employee Share Option Scheme) or 
award of ordinary shares (Long-Term Incentive Plan). 

The total share-based payment charge relating to Hansteen Holdings PLC shares for the year was made up as follows:

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Employee share option scheme      a) 53 54
Long-term incentive plan      b) (615) 615

       (562) 669

a) Equity-settled share option scheme
The 2005 Share Option Scheme is open to certain senior employees of the Group. In the case of options granted within three months of 
admission of shares to trading on AIM, options are exercisable at the price at which shares were placed in connection with the float, being £1 
per share. All options granted after this date are exercisable at a price equal to the average quoted market price of the ordinary shares of 
Hansteen Holdings PLC on the date of grant. The options have a three year vesting period that is not subject to performance conditions. If 
the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date of grant, the options expire. Options are normally forfeited if the 
employee leaves the Group before the options vest. In accordance with IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ the fair value of equity-settled 
share-based payments to employees is determined at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period 
based on the Group’s estimate of options that will eventually vest. Fair value is calculated using a Binomial pricing model.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

        Weighted
        average
        exercise
       Number of price
       share options pence

Outstanding at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008       400,000 107.1

        Years

Weighted average remaining contractual life        7.03

The options outstanding under the scheme are exercisable at exercise prices ranging from 100.0p to 128.5p in years from 2009 up to 2016. 
No options were granted during the current or preceding financial year. The aggregate of the fair values of the outstanding options at the 
dates granted is £160,000 determined according to the Binomial model.

The inputs into the Binomial model are as follows:

       2008 2007

Weighted average share price       124.0p 124.0p
Weighted average exercise price       107.1p 107.1p
Expected volatility       25% 25%
Expected life       3–8 years 3–8 years
Risk free rate       4.16% 4.16%
Expected dividend yield       3% 3%

The expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the period from the date the 
Company floated on AIM on 29 November 2005 and the dates the options were granted and also by comparison with the volatilities of similar 
companies over the same period. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the 
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.
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31. Share-based payments continued
b) Equity-settled long-term incentive scheme (LTIP)
Details of the Group’s LTIP scheme are described in the remuneration report. 

The assumptions used in the calculations for the current years are set out in the table below.

      2008  2007
      £’000  £’000

Date of grant     22/11/2005 22/11/2005
Number of instruments     nil 1,344,610
Share price at the date of grant     100.0p 100.0p
Share price at the date of measurement     70.5p 98.50p
Contractual life     4 years 4 years
Risk-free interest rate     4% 5%
Expected outcome of meeting performance criteria (at date of grant)    100% 100%

Vesting is dependent on the Company’s NAV growth per share exceeding a compound growth rate of 10% per annum in the four years 
ending on 31 December 2009.

A progressive dividend growth policy is assumed in all fair value calculations.

Current projections, using assumptions based on current interest rates, current exchange rates and current property yields indicate that the 
liability to the Executive Directors under the scheme for the period up to 31 December 2008 is estimated to be £nil (2007: £615,000).

32. Events after the balance sheet date
On 1 April 2009 the Board declared that an interim dividend of 3.2 pence per ordinary share will be paid on 15 May 2009 to shareholders on 
the register at the close of business on 17 April 2009.

33. Related party transactions
a) Group
Trading transactions
During the year, group subsidiaries entered into trading transactions with related parties who are not members of the Group:

 Purchase of Amounts owed 
 services to related parties
     2008 2007 2008 2007
     £ £ £ £

Ormix B.V.     60 640 – –

Ormix B.V., a company incorporated in the Netherlands, owns 50% of the issued ordinary shares of Hansteen Ormix B.V. The remaining 50% 
of the issued ordinary shares of Hansteen Ormix B.V. are owned by Hansteen Netherlands B.V which is a wholly-owned subsidiary 
undertaking of Hansteen Holdings PLC. Ormix B.V. is therefore considered to be a related party of the Group.

Purchases of services from Ormix B.V. were made at prices comparable with those paid by the Group for similar services from unrelated 
parties. At 31 December 2008 the amounts outstanding in respect of these trading transactions was £nil (2007: £nil).

Other amounts due to related parties

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Amount due to Ormix B.V.       – 368

The amount due to Ormix B.V. at 31 December 2007 represented a capital contribution from Ormix B.V. to Hansteen Ormix B.V. which was in 
the process of being formally documented as such at 31 December 2007. On 1 April 2008 the formal documentation was completed and the 
amount due to Ormix was converted to capital. The amount due to Ormix B.V was unsecured and did not bear interest.
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33. Related party transactions continued
Remuneration of key management personnel
The aggregate remuneration of the Directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is set out below, as required by IAS 24 
‘Related Party Disclosures’. Further information about the remuneration of individual directors is provided in the audited part of the 
Remuneration Report on page 61.

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Short-term employee benefits       928 983
Post-employment benefits       78 66

       1,006 1,049

b) Company
Transactions with subsidiaries
The Company enters into loans with its subsidiaries to provide long-term funding for their investment activities. Interest is charged on these 
loans at LIBOR plus 0.8% or EURIBOR plus 0.8%.

The Company provides interest-free loans to its development subsidiary, Hansteen Land Limited to finance its operations.

The Company is charged management fees by its management subsidiary, Hansteen Limited which undertakes day-to-day management of 
the Hansteen Group on behalf of the Company. Management fees charged by Hansteen Limited to other subsidiaries of the Hansteen Group 
are recovered by the Company on behalf of Hansteen Limited.

Surplus funds in subsidiary companies are loaned to the Company at EURIBOR plus 0.8%.

A summary of the transactions with the subsidiaries is as follows:

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Interest-bearing loans made to subsidiaries       27,465 –
Interest-bearing loans repaid by subsidiaries       (25,979) 12,264
Interest bearing loans made by subsidiaries       (34,880) –
Interest-free loans made to subsidiaries       318 249
Loan fee disbursements recharged to subsidiaries       374 487
Interest income received in respect of interest-bearing loans       3,580 3,749
Interest paid in respect of interest-bearing loans       (1,240) –
Dividend income received       – 2,100
Management fees charged to the Company       549 498
Management fees charged to the Company and recharged to subsidiaries     3,646 2,384

The balances outstanding at the year end from transactions with subsidiaries are as follows:

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Amounts due from subsidiaries included in investment in subsidiaries      – 53,111
Amounts due from subsidiaries included in trade and other receivables      60,352 6,227
Amounts due to subsidiaries included in trade and other payables      (35,335) (849)

       25,017 58,489

Remuneration of key management personnel
The aggregate remuneration of the Directors and key management personnel of the Company are considered to be the same as for the Group.
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34. Financial instruments
Financial instruments comprise both financial assets and financial liabilities. The carrying value of these financial assets and liabilities 
approximate their fair value.

Financial assets in the Group comprise interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts which are categorised as derivatives 
designated as fair value through the income statement. Financial assets also include trade and other receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents which are classified as other financial assets. 

Financial liabilities in the Group comprise interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts which are categorised as derivatives 
designated as fair value through the income statement. Financial liabilities also include bank loans and overdrafts, which are categorised as 
debt at amortised cost, and trade and other payables, finance lease payables and current tax liabilities, which are classified as other financial 
liabilities.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair values of derivative financial assets and financial liabilities are determined by independent experts in accordance with generally 
accepted pricing models.

Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while maximising the return to 
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the 
borrowings, the obligations under finance leases, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, 
comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings, all as disclosed in the balance sheet.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Categories of financial instruments

  Group  Company  Group  Company
 Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
 value value value value value value value value
 2008 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial assets
Designated as held for trading
Forward currency contracts 13,691 13,691 13,691 13,691 – – – –
Interest rate caps 329 329 152 152 235 235 235 235
Interest rate swaps – – – – 144 144 144 144

 14,020 14,020 13,843 13,843 379 379 379 379

Other financial assets
Trade and other receivables 5,831 5,831 60,954 60,954 3,781 3,781 6,954 6,954
Cash and cash deposits 80,240 80,240 55,617 55,617 19,562 19,562 13,581 13,581

 86,071 86,071 116,571 116,571 23,343 23,343 20,535 20,535

Total 100,091 100,091 130,414 130,414 23,722 23,722 20,914 20,914

Financial liabilities 
Designated as held for trading  
Forward currency contracts (68,407) (68,407) (68,407) (68,407) (9,710) (9,710) (9,710) (9,710)
Interest rate swaps (4,509) (4,509) (1,391) (1,391) – – – –

 (72,916) (72,916) (68,798) (68,798) (9,710) (9,710) (9,710) (9,710)

At amortised cost
Secured bank loans (281,244) (281,244) – – (167,711) (167,711) – –
Bank overdrafts – – – – (1,825) (1,825) – –

 (281,244) (281,244) – – (169,536) (169,536) – –

Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (9,919) (9,919) (35,544) (35,544) (6,916) (6,916) (1,162) (1,162)
Finance lease payables (4,443) (4,443) – – (3,497) (3,497) – –
Tax payables (4,907) (4,907) (2,861) (2,861) (2,563) (2,563) (142) (142)

 (19,269) (19,269) (38,405) (38,405) (12,976) (12,976) (1,304) (1,304)

Total (373,429) (373,429) (107,203) (107,203) (192,222) (192,222) (11,014) (11,014)
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34. Financial instruments continued
Gearing ratio
The Group’s management reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual basis in conjunction with the Board. As part of this review, 
management considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital and debt.

The gearing ratio at the year end is as follows:

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Debt       285,687 173,033
Cash and cash equivalents excluding deposits given as collateral for known liabilities     (32,367) (19,562)

Net debt       253,320 153,471

Equity       212,545 231,214

Net debt to equity ratio       119.2% 66.4%

Carrying value of investment and trading properties       495,107 411,919

Net debt to value ratio       51.2% 37.3%

Debt is defined as borrowings and obligations under finance leases, as detailed in notes 24 and 25. 

Significant accounting policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the 
basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are 
disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements.

Financial risk management objectives
The Group monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through internal risk reports which analyses 
exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit 
risk and liquidity risk.

The Group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks by using derivative financial instruments to hedge these risk exposures. The use of 
financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the Board of Directors. Compliance with policies and exposure limits is 
reviewed by the Board and management on a continuous basis. The Group does not enter into or trade in financial instruments, including 
derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

The Group’s management reports quarterly to the Board and Audit Committee, an independent body that monitors risks and policies 
implemented to mitigate risk exposures.

Market risk
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The Group 
enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, including:

interest rate swaps and caps to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates; and•	
forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on translation of the Group’s investment in foreign operations •	
which have the Euro as their functional currency.

Foreign currency risk management
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency exposure arises from the fact that there are foreign operations which transact business 
denominated in Euros, with the translation of the local trading performance and local net asset to Sterling for each financial period and at 
each balance sheet date giving rise to an exposure to fluctuations in the Euro:Sterling exchange rate. The Group’s approach to managing this 
exposure is to fund investments in Euro-denominated operations with debt that is covered by forward currency contracts to limit the overall 
exposure of the Group. By managing the exposure the impact of translating overseas profits and assets has been minimal so these are not 
specifically hedged.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:

     Group Company Group Company
     2008 2008 2007 2007
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Gross currency assets     78,776 54,872 18,937 13,037
Gross currency liabilities     (286,847) – (170,913) –

Net exposure     (208,071) 54,872 (151,976) 13,037
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34. Financial instruments continued
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the currency of Belgium, France, Germany and the Netherlands (Euro currency).

At 31 December 2008 the net assets of the Group were £212,545,000 (2007: £231,214,000) of which £209,900,000 were denominated in 
Euros (2007: £225,411,000). At 31 December 2008 the Group had no fixed forward contracts in place to sell Euros for Sterling (2007: 
Contracts to sell Euros 282,690,000 for £200,000,000) and therefore the net assets exposure to currency fluctuations was £209,900,000 
(2007: £25,411,000). 

The effect of a 10% increase in the value of the Euro compared to Sterling would increase the net assets of the Group as at 31 December 
2008 by £19,082,000 (2007: effect of a 5% change – £1,337,000). The effect of a 10% decrease in the value of the Euro compared to Sterling 
would decrease the net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2008 by £23,322,000 (2007: effect of a 5% change – £1,210,000).

Forward foreign exchange contracts
The Group has entered into various forward currency contracts. These were entered into to hedge the net investment in foreign operations 
but have not been designated as hedges. The changes in the fair values of these contracts are recognised in the income statement. In 
January 2009 the Company exercised its right such that all payments under the forward foreign currency contracts listed below will be set 
off, resulting in a single net payment due in July 2009.

The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts outstanding as at the year end:

 Average exchange rates Currency contract Contract value Fair value
   2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
 2008 2007 EUR 000s EUR 000s £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group and Company
Sell Euros buy Sterling 1.4105 1.4105 (155,159) (155,159) 110,000 110,000 (37,319) (5,121)
Sell Euros buy Sterling 1.4243 1.4243 (71,215) (71,215) 50,000 50,000 (17,617) (2,799)
Sell Euros buy Sterling 1.4079 1.4079 (56,316) (56,316) 40,000 40,000 (13,471) (1,790)
Sell Sterling buy Euros 1.1258 – 123,832 – (110,000) – 7,542 –
Sell Sterling buy Euros 1.1258 – 56,287 – (50,000) – 3,428 –
Sell Sterling buy Euros 1.1252 – 45,007 – (40,000) – 2,721 –

Total   (57,564) (282,690) – 200,000 (54,716) (9,710)

In the year to 31 December 2008, the aggregate amount of unrealised losses under forward foreign exchange contracts recognised in the 
income statement is £45,006,000 (2007: unrealised losses of £11,014,000). The impact in the year to 31 December 2008 of the translation of 
the foreign operations which has been deferred in equity for which the contracts are designed to minimise the exposure are £45,710,000 gain 
(2007: £16,143,000 gain).

Interest rate risk management
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow funds at floating interest rates. The risk is managed by the Group by 
maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings, by the use of interest rate swap contracts and interest rate cap 
contracts. 

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and non-derivative 
instruments during the year. 

 Increase/(decrease) in profit before tax
     Group Company Group Company
     2008 2008 2007 2007
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Increase interest rate by 1%     (204) 1,608 (3) 612
Decrease interest rate by 1%     2,132 (125) 246 (367)

There would have been no effect on amounts recognised directly in equity. 



Hansteen Holdings PLC
Annual report and accounts 2008 Financial Statements46

Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2008

34. Financial instruments continued
Interest rate swap and cap contracts
Under interest rate swap contracts, the Group agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate interest amounts calculated 
on agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable the Group to mitigate the risk of changing interest rates on the fair value of 
issued fixed rate debt held and the cash flow exposures on the issued variable rate debt held. 

The following tables detail the notional principal amounts and remaining terms of interest rate swap and cap contracts outstanding as at the 
reporting date:

Economic hedges to the cash flows

 Average contract fixed interest rate Notional principal amount Fair value
   2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
   % % EUR ’000 EUR ’000 £’000 £’000

Group and Company 
Interest rate swaps – outstanding receive floating pay fixed contracts: 
In more than one year but less than two   4.2 – 25,000 – (518) –
In more than two years but less than five   4.7 4.2 75,000 50,000 (3,991) 144

     100,000 50,000 (4,509) 144

Interest rate caps – outstanding receive floating pay fixed contracts:      
In less than one year    4.0 – 25,000 – 56 –
In more than one year but less than two   – 4.0 – 25,000 – 184
In more than two years but less than five   4.6 5.0 125,000 25,000 273 51

     150,000 50,000 329 235

The average interest rate is based on the outstanding balances at the end of the financial period.

The interest rate swaps settle on a quarterly basis. The floating rate on the interest rate swaps is three months EURIBOR. The Group settles 
the difference between the fixed and floating interest rate on a net basis.

Under interest rate caps the Group pays a premium to limit its exposure to floating interest rates to a fixed upper limit determined at the time 
the interest rate cap contract is entered into.

The interest rate caps settle on a quarterly basis. The floating rate on the interest rate caps is three months EURIBOR. If the floating rate 
exceeds the capped rate the Group receives the difference between the fixed and capped interest rate on a net basis.

The Group does not hedge account for its interest rate swaps or interest rate caps and states them at fair value with changes in fair value 
included in the income statement.

Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. 

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is £86,071,000 (2007: £23,343,000) comprising trade and other receivables and cash and  
cash deposits. The Group’s principal credit risk is attributable primarily to its trade receivables of £2,226,000 (2007: £1,749,000) which 
consist principally of rents due from tenants. The balance is low relative to both the current and net assets of the Group and the Company.

Potential customers are evaluated for creditworthiness and where necessary collateral is secured. There is no concentration of credit risk 
within the portfolio to either geographical business segment or company as the Group has a well spread diverse customer base with no  
one customer accounting for more than 3% of the gross rent roll. 

Other receivables consist principally of property purchase deposits held in client accounts at solicitors and VAT receivables. These items  
do not give rise to significant credit risk. 

Cash deposits are held at banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.

Liquidity risk management
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which monitors the Group’s short, medium and 
long-term funding and liquidity management requirements on a regular basis. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate 
reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities. As at 31 December 2008 the Group had additional undrawn committed 
borrowing facilities of £57,049,000 (2007: £59,475,000) at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk.
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34. Financial instruments continued
Liquidity and interest risk tables
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up 
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest dates on which the Group can be required to pay. The table 
includes both interest and principal cash flows.

        2008 Maturity
   Weighted  
   average  
   effective  Less than One to Two to More than 
   interest rate one year two years five years five years Total
   % £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group
Non-interest bearing   – 14,826 – – – 14,826
Variable rate debt instruments   4.82 14,374 16,239 288,790 15,118 334,521
Finance lease liability   5.05 372 372 1,118 4,734 6,596

    29,572 16,611 289,908 19,852 355,943

Company
Non-interest bearing   – 3,641 – – – 3,641
Variable rate debt instruments   3.43 34,880    34,880

    38,521 – – – 38,521

        2007 Maturity
   Weighted  
   average  
   effective  Less than One to Two to More than 
   interest rate one year two years five years five years Total
   % £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group
Non-interest bearing   – 9,479 – – – 9,479
Variable rate debt instruments   5.43 52,703 8,843 124,980 12,716 199,242
Finance lease liability   5.23 279 283 848 3,877 5,287

    62,461 9,126 125,828 16,593 214,008

Company
Non-interest bearing   – 1,304 – – – 1,304

The following table details the Group’s expected maturity for its non-derivative financial assets. The tables have been drawn up based on the 
undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets except where the Group 
anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period.

        2008 Maturity
     Less than One to Two to More than 
    one year two years five years five years Total
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group
Non-interest bearing    5,831 – – – 5,831
Variable interest rate instruments    80,240 – – – 80,240

    86,071 – – – 86,071

Company
Non-interest bearing    6,357 – – – 6,357
Variable interest rate instruments    110,214 – – – 110,214

    116,571 – – – 116,571
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Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2008

34. Financial instruments continued

        2007 Maturity
     Less than One to Two to More than 
    one year two years five years five years Total
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group
Non-interest bearing    3,781 – – – 3,781
Variable interest rate instruments    19,562 – – – 19,562

    23,343 – – – 23,343

Company
Non-interest bearing    6,954 – – – 6,954
Variable interest rate instruments    13,581 – – – 13,581

    20,535 – – – 20,535

The following table details the Group’s liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments. The table has been drawn up based on the 
undiscounted net cash inflows/(outflows) on the derivative instrument that settle on a net basis and the undiscounted gross inflows and 
(outflows) on those derivatives that require gross settlement. When the amount payable or receivable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has 
been determined by reference to the interest and foreign currency rates as at the reporting date.

        2008 Maturity
     Less than One to Two to More than 
    one year two years five years five years Total
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group
Net settled:
Interest rate swaps    (1,374) (1,173) (1,851) – (4,398)
Gross settled:
Foreign exchange forward contracts – outflows    (473,342) – – – (473,342)
Foreign exchange forward contracts – inflows     417,682 – – – 417,682

    (57,034) (1,173) (1,851) – (60,058)

Company
Net settled:
Interest rate swaps    (631) (430) (55) – (1,116)
Gross settled:
Foreign exchange forward contracts – outflows    (473,342) – – – (473,342)
Foreign exchange forward contracts – inflows    417,682 – – – 417,682

    (56,291) (430) (55) – (56,776)

In January 2009 the Company exercised its right such that all payments due to and from the Company shown above as gross settled cash 
outflows and inflows under foreign exchange forward contracts will be set off, resulting in a single net payment due in July 2009.

        2007 Maturity
     Less than One to Two to More than 
    one year two years five years five years Total
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group and Company
Net settled:
Interest rate swaps    166 166 115 – 447
Interest rate caps    125 103 –  228
Gross settled:
Foreign exchange forward contracts – outflows    – (207,570) – – (207,570)
Foreign exchange forward contracts – inflows    – 200,000 – – 200,000

    291 (7,301) 115 – (6,895)
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their Annual Report and the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2008.

Principal activities 
The Company is the parent company of a Group whose principal activities comprise property investment, development, management and all 
associated business. The Group has initially focused on industrial property investments in Continental Europe, although it will also seek to 
profit from opportunistic acquisitions in other property sectors both in the UK and abroad. 

The subsidiary undertakings principally affecting the profits or net assets of the Group in the period are listed in note 18 to the financial 
statements.

Business review 
Hansteen’s focus is on Continental European industrial investments which in the opinion of the Board have high yields along with cheap 
financing costs. To date these investments have been primarily in Belgium, France, Germany and the Netherlands. A smaller part of the 
Group’s activity is dedicated to opportunistic property investment opportunities which to date have included land and residential investments. 
A more detailed review of the business for the year is included in the Joint Chief Executives’ Review on pages 6 to 11.

Results 
The results for the year ended 31 December 2008 are shown in the income statement on page 15 of the financial statements. As shown on 
page 15 the pre-tax loss for the year ended 31 December 2008 was £60.9 million (2007: £20.4 million profit) and the net assets are shown in 
the balance sheet as £213.4 million (2007: £231.4 million). The diluted EPRA NAV per share was 127.8p (2007: 138.2p). In the Director’s view 
the pre-tax profits and diluted EPRA NAV growth are the most appropriate performance measures for the Group.

Dividend 
The Directors have resolved to pay an interim dividend of 3.2p (2007: 3.2p) per ordinary share to be paid on 15 May 2009 to ordinary 
shareholders on the register on 17 April 2009.

More detailed information about the Group’s business, activities and financial performance is incorporated into this report by reference and 
can be found in the Chairman’s Statement and the Joint Chief Executive’s Review on pages 4 to 13.

Financial instruments and risk management 
The Board agrees and reviews policies and financial instruments for risk management. Further information on financial instruments is 
contained in note 34 to the financial statements

Principal risks and uncertainties
Risk management is an important part of the Group’s system of internal controls. Senior management staff and the Board regularly consider 
the significant risks, which it believes are facing the Group, identify appropriate controls and if necessary instigate action to improve those 
controls. There will always be some risk when undertaking property investments but the control process is aimed at mitigating and 
minimising these risks where possible. The key risks identified by the Board, the steps taken to mitigate them and additional commentary is 
as follows:

Changes in the general economic environment exposes the Group to a number of risks including falls in the value of its property •	
investments, loss of rental income and increased vacant property costs due to the failure of tenants to renew or extend leases as well as 
the increased potential for tenants to become bankrupt. The Board believes these risks are reduced due to its policy of assembling a 
portfolio with a wide spread of different tenancies in terms of actual tenants, industry type and geographical location as well as 
undertaking thorough due diligence on acquisitions. The level of exposure to individual tenants is regularly monitored to ensure they are 
within manageable limits. Rent deposits or bank guarantees are requested where appropriate to mitigate against the effect of tenant 
defaults. Where possible, purchases are achieved at low capital values and with due investigation of tenant finances. 
A further significant risk relates to the Group’s treasury operations. Over-borrowing by the Group, insufficient credit facilities, significant •	
interest rate increases or facility covenant breaches could represent a significant risk to the Group. In response to these risks Hansteen 
maintains a prudent approach to its borrowing levels by seeking to maintain headroom within its debt facilities. The Board actively 
monitors current debt and equity levels as well as considering the future levels of debt and equity to sustain the business. Loan covenants 
are monitored on a regular basis and compliance certificates are prepared. For all money borrowed consideration is given to securing the 
appropriate hedging instruments to protect against increases in interest rates.
By investing in property in mainland Europe the Group is exposed to a foreign currency exchange rate risk. In response to this risk the •	
Group’s borrowings are in Euro denominated loan facilities and therefore, to the extent that investments are financed by debt, a self 
hedging mechanism is in place. In relation to the equity element of the Group’s Euro investments the Board monitors the level of exposure 
on a regular basis and considers the level and timing of when to take out the appropriate hedging instruments to cover this exposure. 
A further risk identified by the Board encompasses environmental risks. In addition to the need to act as a responsible landlord there may, •	
in some circumstances, be occasions when pollution on a site owned by a property investment company becomes its responsibility. Each 
acquisition undertaken by the Group includes an environmental report from a specialist consultancy. These reports may highlight the need 
for further investigation and in some cases remediation. The Group’s policy is then to either undertake such investigations or remediation 
or potentially reject the purchase as no longer viable.
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Going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position as well as the 
financial position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and the borrowing facilities are described in the Joint Chief Executives’ Report 
on pages 12 to 13. In addition note 34 to the financial statements includes the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its 
capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures to credit risk and 
liquidity risk. 

The Group has a good debt maturity profile with long-term funding in place. The current economic conditions have created further 
uncertainty as to the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group as noted above. In light of these risks the Group has considered its 
forecast cash flows and forecast covenant compliance taking into account:

the impact on the various loan covenants of further reductions in the property valuations, decline in rental income and increase in interest •	
rates:
the potential impacts of the current economic uncertainty over the Group’s operating cash flow generation, including tenancy failures and •	
increased vacancies.

These forecasts show that the Group has sufficient headroom and available finance to manage its business risks successfully despite the 
current uncertain economic outlook. Based on this assessment, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the 
Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts.

Share capital 
On 19 March 2008, the High Court of Justice, Chancery Division, Companies Court approved the reduction of the Company’s Share 
Premium Account by a sum of £60,000,000. 

Details of the authorised and issued share capital, together with details of the movements in the Company’s issued share capital during the 
year are shown in note 27. The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income. Each share carries the right 
to one vote at general meetings of the Company. 

There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding nor on the transfer of shares, which are both governed by the general provisions of 
the Articles of Association and prevailing legislation. 

The Directors are not aware of any agreements between holders of the Company’s shares that may result in restrictions on the transfer of 
securities or on voting rights. 

Details of employee share schemes are set out in note 31. 

No person has any special rights of control over the Company’s share capital and all issued shares are fully paid.

Directors and their interests 
The following served as Directors throughout the period:

J D Hambro Non-Executive Chairman 
I R Watson Joint Chief Executive
M L Jones Joint Chief Executive
S T Gee Non-Executive Director
R S Mully Non-Executive Director

With regard to the appointment and replacement of Directors, the Company is governed by its Articles of Association, the Companies Acts 
and related legislation. The Articles themselves may be amended by special resolution of the shareholders. 

Mr Mully will retire and submit himself for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Mr Mully joined the Board in May 2006 as a Non-Executive Director and is the Managing Partner, Grove International Partners (UK) Limited 
and also a Director of Apellas Holding BV, Hellenic Land Holdings BV, Karta Realty Limited, Spazio Investments NV, Alstria Office REIT AG 
and Polish Investments Real Estate Holdings BV. Mr Mully is also a Supervisory Board Member of Hypo Real Estate Holdings BV.
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Directors’ Report continued

Directors and their interests continued
The beneficial interests of the Directors in the ordinary shares of the Company are as follows:

     Ordinary shares Ordinary shares
     of 10p each at  of 10p each at
     31 December 2008 31 December 2007

I R Watson     2,963,001 2,600,001
M L Jones     2,963,001 2,600,001
J D Hambro     200,000 200,000
S T Gee     200,000 200,000
R S Mully     275,000 200,000

     6,601,002 5,800,002

None of the Directors had any interests in any material contract during the year relating to the business of the Group.

Subject to the Company’s Memorandum of Association, the Articles, any legislation and any directions given by special resolution, the 
business of the Company will be managed by the Directors, who may exercise all the powers of the Company, whether relating to the 
management of the business of the Company or not. In particular, the Board may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money 
and to mortgage or charge any of its undertakings, property, assets and uncalled capital and to issue debentures and other securities and 
give security for any debt, liability or obligation of the Company to any third party.

Directors’ indemnities 
The Company has made qualifying third-party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its Directors which were made during the year and 
remain in force at the date of this report.

Substantial interests in the share capital of the Company 
The Company has been notified of the following interests that represent 3% or more of the issued share capital of the Company as at 
25 March 2009.

       No. of ordinary
       shares held Percentage

Artemis Investment Management Limited       15,396,094 8.63
Standard Life Investments Limited       15,294,817 8.57
Lansdowne Partners Limited       14,011,200 7.85
Jupiter Asset Management Limited       13,263,217 7.43
Threadneedle Investments       11,719,354 6.57
Lloyds TSB Group plc       11,313,797 6.34
Taube Hodson Stonex Partners LLP on behalf of client funds that it manages or controls    10,369,550 5.81
Thames River Capital LLP       6,707,799 3.76
Third Avenue Management LLC       5,355,571 3.00

      103,431,399 57.96

Payment policy for creditors 
The Group’s policy is to settle all agreed liabilities within the terms established with suppliers. At 31 December 2008 there were 23 days’ 
purchases outstanding (2007: three days) in respect of the Company’s trade creditors. 

Charitable and political donations 
During the year, the Group made charitable donations of £nil (2007: £nil) to charities serving the communities in which the Group operates. 
There were no political donations in the year (Year ending December 2007: £nil).
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Auditors 
In the case of each of the persons who are Directors of the Company at the date when this report was approved:

so far as each of the Directors is aware, there is no relevant audit information (as defined in the Companies Act 1985) of which the •	
Company’s auditors are unaware; and
each of the Directors has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director to make themselves aware of any relevant audit •	
information (as defined) and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information. 

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of S234ZA of the Companies Act 1985.

On 1 December 2008 Deloitte & Touche LLP changed its name to Deloitte LLP. Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in 
office as auditors and a resolution to reappoint them will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Approved by the Board of Directors 
and signed on behalf of the Board

R P Lowes
Secretary
1 April 2009
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. The Directors are required by the IAS Regulation 
to prepare the Group financial statements under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and 
have also elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union. The 
financial statements are also required by law to be properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS 
Regulation.

International Accounting Standard 1 requires that financial statements present fairly for each financial year the Company’s financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows. This requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other events and conditions in 
accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out in the International Accounting 
Standards Board’s ‘Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements’. In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation 
will be achieved by compliance with all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards. Directors are also required to:

properly select and apply accounting policies;•	
present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable •	
information; and 
provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to understand the •	
impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s 
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Hansteen Holdings PLC
We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial statements (the ‘financial statements’) of Hansteen Holdings PLC for the year 
ended 31 December 2008 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Group and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Group 
and Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity, the Group and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements, and the related notes 1 to 
34. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the 
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance with 
relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and the 
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also 
report to you whether in our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements. The information 
given in the Directors’ Report includes that specific information presented in the Chairman’s Statement and Joint Chief Executive’s Review 
that is cross referred from the Business Review section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information 
and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not 
disclosed.

Although not required to do so, the directors have voluntarily chosen to make a corporate governance statement detailing the extent of their 
compliance with the July 2006 Combined Code. We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the company’s 
compliance with the nine provisions of the 2006 Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services 
Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and 
controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report as described in the contents section and consider whether it is consistent with 
the audited financial statements. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any further information outside the Annual Report.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An 
audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the part of 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the 
directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s 
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide 
us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to 
be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also 
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report to be audited. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report continued

Opinion
In our opinion:

the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the •	
Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2008 and of its loss for the year then ended;
the Parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union as •	
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 
2008; 
the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance •	
with the Companies Act 1985; and
the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.•	

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors 
Reading, United Kingdom
1 April 2009
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Statement of compliance 
Although not required to do so by the AIM Rules, the Directors have decided to provide Corporate Governance disclosures comparable with 
those required of a listed company. 

Section 1 of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance that was issued in 2006 by the Financial Reporting Council (‘the Combined 
Code’), as appended to the Listing Rules, sets out the Principles of Good Corporate Governance which are applicable to listed companies 
incorporated in the United Kingdom. The Board is committed to high standards of risk management and internal control and, as such, 
supports the principles of Corporate Governance set out in the Combined Code. The way in which it applies these principles is set out below 
and in the Report of the Remuneration Committee on page 59.

Due to the small number of Directors, the Board does not consider it appropriate to establish a nomination committee to make 
recommendations to the Board on new board appointments and, as each of the Non-Executive Directors is independent, the Board does not 
consider it necessary to nominate a senior independent director. Similarly due to the small number of Directors the Board does not consider 
it necessary to implement a formal process of evaluating the effectiveness of the Board, its committees and its Directors. Except for these 
matters, throughout the year ended 31 December 2008, the Company has been in compliance with the Code Provisions set out in Section 1 
of the Combined Code. 

A summary of the system of governance adopted by the Company follows:

Relations with shareholders 
The Executive Directors regularly meet with institutional shareholders and analysts. Private investors are also encouraged to meet with the 
Board and to participate in the Annual General Meeting. The Chairmen of the Audit and Remuneration Committees are available to answer 
questions, where appropriate, at the Annual General Meeting.

The Board of Directors 
Details of the Directors are set out on page 49. The Board consists of three independent Non-Executive Directors, including the Chairman, 
and two Executive Directors. The roles and responsibilities of the Chairman, Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors are clearly 
defined. The Board is satisfied that the Non-Executive Directors, each of whom is independent from management and has no commercial or 
other connection with the Company, are able to exercise independent judgement. The appointment of new directors is a matter for the Board 
as a whole. The Board is responsible to shareholders of the Company for the strategy and future development of the Group and the efficient 
management of its resources. As a result, the Board has a schedule of matters reserved for its decision, which includes approval of annual 
budgets, acquisition and divestment policy, approval of major capital projects, the raising of finance and management policies. The Board is 
supplied, in a timely fashion, with the information it needs to enable it to discharge its duties. The Board is also kept informed of changes in 
relevant legislation and changing commercial risks, and each Director has access to independent professional advice and the advice and 
services of the Company Secretary. All Directors are required to submit themselves for re-election by rotation at least every three years. 

The schedule below sets out the number of principal Board and committee meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2008 together 
with individual attendance by Board Members at those meetings.

       Audit Remuneration
      Board Committee Committee

J D Hambro      8 3 1
M L Jones      8 – –
I R Watson      8 – –
S T Gee      8 3 1
R S Mully      8 3 1
Number of meetings during the period      8 3 1

The Board has the following standing Committees:

Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee comprises J D Hambro (Chairman), S T Gee and R S Mully. It is responsible for making recommendations to 
the Board on all aspects of remuneration policy for Executive Directors. The Committee’s report is set out on pages 59 to 61.

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee comprises S T Gee (Chairman), J D Hambro and R S Mully. Senior representatives of the external auditors, Executive 
Directors and senior management may be invited to attend the meetings. The committee reviews Hansteen’s external audit arrangements 
including the independence and objectivity of the auditors and the level of non-audit services, internal controls and the merits of establishing 
an internal audit function. Given the size of the Group and the close involvement of the Joint Chief Executives, the Committee do not believe 
that an internal audit function is merited at this time. The Committee also reviews the interim and full year financial statements prior to their 
submission to the Board, the application of the Group’s accounting policies and any changes to financial reporting requirements.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee and of the Audit Committee are available for inspection.

Corporate Governance



Hansteen Holdings PLC
Annual report and accounts 2008 58 Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance continued

Internal control 
An ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the most significant risks faced by the Group has been in place throughout the 
year and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts. That process which accords with the Turnbull guidance and the 
Board’s review of that process is set out below. 

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the Group’s system of internal controls, including the review of its effectiveness and 
suitable monitoring procedures, in order to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the assets of the Group as well as the integrity of its 
accounting records and provide reliable information for use within the business and for publication. The Directors acknowledge that such a 
system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable and not 
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The Directors have reviewed, as part of the year-end procedures, the effectiveness of the system of internal control for the period under 
review and up to the date of this report, the key element of which is a risk management process whereby key risks to achieving our objectives 
and strategy as well as related controls and monitoring procedures in respect of those controls are identified in a risk register. At each Audit 
Committee meeting, the risk register is reviewed and updated where appropriate and reports received from the executive on control 
procedures, and any areas for improvement are agreed for subsequent action.

This process is supported by:

Management structure 
There is a clear organisational structure with well-defined lines of reporting and responsibility.

Financial reporting 
There are management reporting disciplines including performance monitoring and profit and cash forecasting.

Investment appraisal 
The Group has a clearly defined framework for capital and development expenditure and subsequent ongoing appraisals.

In addition, the key internal controls include regular meetings of the Board and Audit Committee whose overall responsibilities are set 
out above.

During the course of its reviews of the system of internal control, the Board has not identified nor been advised of any failings or weaknesses 
which it has determined to be significant. Therefore a confirmation in respect of necessary actions has not been considered appropriate. 
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This report has been prepared in accordance with Schedule 7A to the Companies Act 1985. The report also meets the relevant requirements 
of the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority and describes how the Board has applied the Principles of Good Governance relating 
to Directors’ remuneration.

The Regulations require the auditors to report to the Company’s members on the ‘auditable part’ of the Directors’ Remuneration Report and 
to state whether in their opinion that part of the report has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 (as amended 
by the Regulations). The report has therefore been divided into separate sections for audited and unaudited information.

Companies trading on AIM are not required to provide a formal remuneration report. However, in line with current best practice, the Directors 
provide the following information to enable a better understanding as to how Directors’ remuneration is determined. 

Unaudited information
a) The Remuneration Committee (‘the Committee’)
The Committee, which is constituted in accordance with the Combined Code, comprises J D Hambro (Chairman), S T Gee and R S Mully. 
The Committee meets regularly and no less than twice a year to consider and establish or recommend to the Board, Company policy and the 
remuneration of the Executive Directors. In addition, the Committee also administers the Company’s long-term incentive plan and share 
option scheme.

b) Remuneration policy
In determining an appropriate remuneration policy for Executives the Committee’s objective is to attract, retain and motivate experienced 
and high-calibre individuals, who are committed to achieving the Company’s corporate goals and achieving consistently high performance in 
its sector.

In implementing the policy, the Committee takes into account remuneration packages available within other companies, including property 
companies, comparable to Hansteen, as well as the Group’s overall financial performance.

The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is determined by the Board within limits set out in the Articles of Association.

There are four main elements of the remuneration package for Executive Directors:

Basic annual salary and benefits.•	
Annual bonus payments, which may be up to 100% of basic salary.•	
Long-term incentive plans.•	
Pension arrangements.•	

The Company’s policy is that a substantial proportion of the remuneration of the Executive Directors should be performance-related. As 
described below, Executive Directors may earn annual bonus payments of up to 100% of their basic salary together with the benefits of 
participation in long-term incentive plans.

Executive Directors are not entitled to accept appointments outside the Company without the prior written consent of the Board, such 
consent not to be unreasonably withheld.

c) Remuneration of Executive Directors
The remuneration packages for the Executive Directors include the following elements:

i) Basic salary and benefits
Basic salaries for Executive Directors and other senior executives are reviewed by the Committee normally annually or otherwise on 
promotion having regard to competitive market practice and also to Group and individual performance. Current benefits include a company 
allowance, medical insurance and life assurance cover and permanent health insurance cover.

ii) Annual performance-related bonus
The Executive Directors are entitled to a performance-related bonus each year based on criteria set annually by the Committee to reward 
excellent financial performance and the achievement of strategic objectives that would meet the expectations of investors as at the beginning 
of the year.

The amount payable to the Executive Directors in any one year is up to 100% of their salary.

Currently up to 50% of salary is payable to the Executive Directors as a bonus assuming the pre-tax profits in the year exceed budgets. 
Additionally up to 50% of salary is payable to the Executive Directors as a bonus assuming the Committee considers that the strategic 
objectives for the year have been achieved.

Report of the Remuneration Committee
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Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

Report of the Remuneration Committee

Unaudited information continued
iii) Long-Term Incentive Plans
The Executive Directors are entitled to a bonus payment linked to Company performance. The bonus payable will depend on the Company’s 
NAV growth per share exceeding a compound growth rate of 10% per annum (‘Target NAV’) in the four years ending on 31 December 2009. 
For the purposes of the incentive scheme NAV is taken to be the fully diluted EPRA NAV definition. To the extent that NAV per ordinary share 
(including dividends and other returns to shareholders) exceeds Target NAV per share, 12.5% of such excess multiplied by the number of 
ordinary shares in issue on 31 December 2009 will be payable to each of the Executive Directors as a bonus. This bonus scheme will be 
repeated to reward performance in each subsequent three-year period commencing on 1 January 2010, with the relevant dates for 
determining the figures to calculate the bonus altering to accurately reflect each three-year period.

Any amount payable under the Long-Term Incentive Plan is to be satisfied in full by the issue of ordinary shares of the Company to any 
relevant Executive Director. The price per share to be used when determining the number of shares which an Executive Director is entitled to 
pursuant to the Long-Term Incentive Plan shall be the average mid-market quotation for such shares on AIM for the first 20 dealing days 
immediately following the end of the relevant period (being the period ending on 31 December 2009 and thereafter each subsequent 
three-year period commencing on 1 January 2010).

iv) Pensions
The Company makes contributions equivalent to 16% of their basic salaries to the self-administered pension fund of the Executive Directors.

d) Performance graph
The following graph shows the Company’s performance, measured by total shareholder return, compared with the performance of the FTSE 
All Share Real Estate Index also measured by total shareholder return. The FTSE All Share Real Estate Index has been selected for this 
comparison because it is the index against which the Group’s performance can best be compared.

 

Total shareholder return is calculated based on share price growth with dividends reinvested.

e) Directors’ contracts
It is the Company’s policy that Executive Directors should have contracts with an indefinite term providing for a maximum of one year’s 
notice. However, it may be necessary occasionally to offer longer notice periods to new directors.

The service contracts of I R Watson and M L Jones are both dated 22 November 2005. Both Directors’ contracts continue until terminated by 
not less than 12 months’ written notice. In the event of termination by the Company, the Directors’ contracts provide for compensation in lieu 
of notice of an amount equal to the basic salary and other contractual entitlements over the immediately preceding 12 month period and shall 
be subject to deductions for income tax and national insurance contributions as appropriate.

The Non-Executive Directors each have specific terms of engagement and do not have service contracts with the Company. The Directors 
are subject to retirement by rotation and reappointment at the Annual General Meeting.

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors, including the Chairman, is determined by the Board as a whole.

Mr R S Mully will retire and submit himself for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.



Hansteen Holdings PLC
Annual report and accounts 2008 61Report of the Remuneration Committee

Audited information
a) Aggregate Directors’ remuneration

       2008 2007
       £’000 £’000

Emoluments       808 883
Money purchase pension contributions       78 66

Total       886 949

b) Directors’ emoluments

    Performance    
  Basic Car related Benefits   
  salary allowance bonus in kind Fees 2008 2007
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Executive Directors
M L Jones  245 25 122 10 – 402 439
I R Watson  245 25 122 14 – 406 444
Non-Executive Directors 
J D Hambro  – – – – 60 60 50
S T Gee  – – – – 30 30 25
R S Mully  – – – – 30 30 25

Total  490 50 244 24 120 928 983

Benefits in kind represent the deemed monetary value of the use of company cars, health care and life insurance provided by the Group. 

The fees of Mr S T Gee were paid to Wallace Clifton Limited.

c) Long-Term Incentive Plan
The Committee reviewed the potential liability of the Group to payments which would fall due under the current four-year long-term incentive 
plan which is due to end on 31 December 2009. Projections for the Group were reviewed using the existing internal budgets and the 
proposed investment programme. Using assumptions of current interest rates, current exchange rates and current property yields liability 
under the scheme is estimated to be £nil (2007: £615,000).

d) Directors’ pension entitlements
The Group made contributions of £39,200 (2007: £32,800) to the self-administered pension fund of Mr I R Watson and contributions of 
£39,200 (2007: £32,800) to the self-administered pension fund of Mr M L Jones.

This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 1 April 2009 and signed on its behalf by

J D Hambro
1 April 2009
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Financial Calendar

Preliminary announcement 2 April 2009

Ex dividend date 15 April 2009

Record date 17 April 2009

Posting dividend 14 May 2009

Dividend payable 15 May 2009

Annual General Meeting 8 June 2009
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Hansteen Holdings PLC is a property 
company formed by Morgan Jones 
and Ian Watson.

The company focuses on investing in 
industrial property in continental Europe. 
It also seeks to profit from opportunistic 
acquisitions in other property sectors and 
will invest in the UK property market as 
value returns.

Business 
overview
 
01 Highlights
02 Our business at a glance
04 Chairman’s Statement
06 Joint Chief Executives’ Review
14 Board of Directors

Financial  
statements

15 Consolidated Income Statement
16 Balance Sheets
17 Statement of Changes in Equity
18 Cash Flow Statement
19 Notes to the Financial Statements
49 Directors and Advisors
50 Directors’ Report
54 Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
55 Independent Auditors’ Report

Corporate 
Governance

57 Corporate Governance
59 Report of the Remuneration committee
62 Financial Calendar
 
 

Contents



Hansteen Holdings PLC
European property investment

Annual report and accounts  
31 December 2008

Hansteen Holdings PLC
1 Berkeley Street
London
United Kingdom
W1J 8DJ

T: +44 (0)20 7016 9022

F: +44 (0)20 7016 9124

 
www.hansteen.co.uk

H
ansteen H

oldings PLC A
nnual report and accounts 2008 




